#### AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

Bernard Loyal Martin	for the Ph. D.	in	Science Education
(Name)	(Degree	)	(Major)
Date thesis is presented	March 9, 1966		
Title SPATIAL VISUAL	IZATION ABILITIE	s c	F CENTRAL
WASHINGTON ST.	ATE COLLEGE PR	OSF	PECTIVE ELEMENTARY
AND SECONDARY	TEACHERS OF M	ATI	HEMATICS
Abstract approved			

(Major Professor)

This investigation was designed to determine the extent to which students who are completing planned curricula in mathematics education are proficient in spatial visualization abilities and possess mathematical understandings. The effects of mathematics curricula upon the development of these abilities and understandings and the relationships between these abilities and understandings were examined by comparing group mean test scores of prospective elementary and secondary mathematics teachers with those of (a) prospective social science teachers, (b) prospective English teachers, (c) prospective science teachers, (d) prospective art/industrial arts teachers, (e) freshman mathematics students, (f) experienced elementary mathematics teachers, and (g) experienced secondary mathematics teachers.

Criterion tests were the <u>Differential Aptitude Test of Space Rela-</u> <u>tions, Form A, (DATSR)</u>, the <u>Revised Minnesota Paper Form Board</u> <u>Test, Series MB, (MPFB)</u>, and the <u>Sequential Test of Educational</u> <u>Progress-Mathematics</u>, <u>Form 1B</u>, <u>(STEPM)</u>. The study being of a post-test-only design, the criterion instruments were administered to the freshman students at the beginning of Fall Term 1964. Prospective teachers completed the tests during the term in which they were enrolled in their respective special teaching methods courses.

Single classification of analysis of covariance using DATSR, MPFB, and STEPM group means was employed to statistically test the null hypotheses. Means of combined verbal and mathematical subtest scores on the Washington Pre-College Tests were applied as covariance controls of scholastic aptitude, and group mean cumulative grade-point-averages were similarly used to control group differences in academic ability. F ratios were computed and evaluated to determine whether differences in group means on the criterion instruments were significant. The data were further analyzed to determine correlations between the variables and other curricula data. Reliability coefficients for the criterion instruments were computed for each group involved in the study.

#### FINDINGS

The following conclusions relative to students at Central Washington State College were drawn from the data obtained and analyzed in this investigation:

- The spatial visualization abilities of prospective elementary mathematics teachers are significantly different from similar abilities of experienced elementary mathematics teachers, while the spatial visualization abilities of prospective secondary mathematics teachers do not differ significantly.
- 2. Spatial visualization abilities of prospective secondary mathematics teachers and experienced elementary mathematics teachers are significantly different, as are the similar abilities of prospective elementary mathematics teachers and experienced secondary mathematics teachers.
- 3. The spatial visualization abilities of prospective elementary mathematics teachers are not significantly different from similar abilities of prospective teachers in other academic fields of endeavor involved in the study, except in the field of science.
- 4. Spatial visualization abilities of prospective secondary mathematics teachers are significantly different from similar abilities of prospective teachers of social sciences and prospective teachers of social sciences and prospective teachers of English, but are not significantly different from spatial visualization abilities of prospective teachers of art/industrial arts or prospective teachers of science.
- 5. Prospective secondary mathematics teachers have a significantly different degree of development of spatial visualization

abilities than do prospective elementary mathematics teachers. It would appear, based on the means of the collected data, that the former group has a higher degree of development.

- 6. The spatial visualization abilities of first-quarter freshman mathematics students are significantly different from similar abilities of prospective elementary mathematics teachers but are no different from these same abilities of prospective secondary mathematics teachers.
- 7. Mathematics achievement can be used, at significant levels of confidence, as a valid index of spatial visualization abilities of prospective teachers in several academic fields, freshman mathematics students, and experienced elementary and secondary mathematics teachers.
- 8. There is no significant dependence of a teacher's spatial visualization abilities on his scholastic ability. This is also true for the first-quarter freshman mathematics students.

## SPATIAL VISUALIZATION ABILITIES OF CENTRAL WASHINGTON STATE COLLEGE PROSPECTIVE ELEMENTARY AND SECONDARY TEACHERS OF MATHEMATICS

by

## BERNARD LOYAL MARTIN

## A THESIS

## submitted to

### OREGON STATE UNIVERSITY

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

## DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

June 1966

## APPROVED:

# Associate Professor of Science Education In Charge of Major





Dean of Graduate School

Date thesis is presented March 9, 1966

Typed by Marcia Ten Eyck

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The investigator wishes to express his sincere appreciation to the members of his graduate advisory committee and to others who have made this investigation possible.

Special thanks are due the following individuals who so willingly gave of their time and talent:

To Dr. Fred W. Fox for his inspiration, guidance, and constructive criticism during the formation and completion of the investigation.

To Dr. Stanley E. Williamson for providing opportunities for the investigator and for his valuable suggestions.

To Dr. Dan L. Willson for his constant encouragement.

To Mr. Bruce A. Robinson, Mr. Dale R. Comstock, and Mr. Edward Matzdorff for their assistance in collecting test data for the investigation.

To various college instructors and students for their cooperation in the acquisition of the data.

In addition, the investigator wishes to express his gratitude to his wife, Marlene, without whose patient understanding and encouragement the dissertation would never have been completed, and to his children, Bernard, Suellen, and Keith, for their cooperation during the investigation and the completion of the dissertation.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION	1
General Remarks	1
Statement of Problem	4
Statement of Purposes	6
CHAPTER II. AREA OF STUDY AND METHODOLOGY	8
Importance of the Study	8
Structure of the Study	13
Population for the Study	15
Assumptions	15
Hypotheses	18
Limitations of the Study	20
Definitions of Terms and Abbreviations Used	21
Instruments Used in the Study	26
Differential Aptitude Space Relations Test (DATSR)	27
Revised Minnesota Paper Form Board Test (MPFB)	27
Sequential Test of Educational Progress -	
Mathematics (STEPM)	28
Procedures and Methods of Research	28
Overview of Thesis	32
CHAPTER III. REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE	33
Perception of Space	33
The Case for Solid Geometry	36
Relationships With Spatial Visualization Ability	38
The Blade-Watson Study of Engineering Students	41
The Roe Study of Eminent Scientists	42
The Lorge Study of Doctoral Candidates	42
The Sharo Study of 60 High School Students	43
Summary	44
CHADTER IN DEDSONAL DATA OF DARTICIDANTS IN	
THE STUDY	46
Status of Prospective Teachers	46
Mathematics Preparation of Prospective Teachers	48
Credits and Grade-Point-Averages Attained by	
Prospective Teachers	50
Major and Minor Academic Fields of Prospective Teachers	50

# TABLE OF CONTENTS Continued

Page

Status of Freshman Mathematics Students	52
Mathematics Preparation of Freshman Mathematics	
Students	52
Grade-Point-Averages Attained by Freshman Mathematics	
Students	53
Status of Experienced Teachers	53
Mathematics Preparation of Experienced Teachers	55
Credits and Grade-Point-Averages Attained by	
Experienced Teachers	57
Major and Minor Academic Fields of Experienced Teachers	57
Summary	57
CHAPTER V. TREATMENT, ANALYSIS, AND INTERPRE-	
TATION OF FINDINGS	60
Treatment of Data	60
Considerations in the Analysis of Data	62
DATSR, MPFB, and STEPM Results	63
Analysis of Covariance Results	67
Coefficients of Correlation	74
Coefficients of Reliability	80
Summary	82
CHAPTER VI. SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND	
RECOMMENDATIONS	84
Summary	84
Conclusions	86
Implications	88
Recommendations for Further Study	89
BIBLIOGRAPHY	91
APPENDIX	97

## LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
I	Summary of Personal Information of Prospective Teachers.	47
II	Mathematics Preparation, College Credits, and Grade-Point-Averages of Prospective Teachers.	49
III	Major and Minor Areas of Emphasis of Prospective Teachers.	51
IV	Summary of Personal Information of Experienced Teachers.	54
v	Mathematics Preparation, College Credits, and Grade-Point-Averages of Experienced Teachers.	56
VI	Major and Minor Areas of Emphasis of Experienced Teachers.	58
VШ	Maximums, Minimums, Means, and Standard Deviations of Spatial Visualization and Mathematics Achievement Scores of Prospective Teachers.	64
VIII	Maximums, Minimums, Means, and Standard Deviations of Spatial Visualization and Mathematics Achievement Scores of Freshman Mathematics Students and Experienced Teachers.	65
IX	Analysis of Covariance of Spatial Visualization and Mathematics Achievement Scores of Various Groups of Individuals Involved in the Study.	69
х	Analysis of Covariance of Spatial Visualization and Mathematics Achievement Scores of All Prospective Mathematics Teachers.	71
XI	Analysis of Covariance of Spatial Visualization and Mathematics Achievement Scores of Prospective Elementary Mathematics Teachers.	73
XII	Analysis of Covariance of Spatial Visualization and Mathematics Achievement Scores of Prospective Secondary Mathematics Teachers.	75

## LIST OF TABLES Continued

Table		Page
XIII	Computed Minimum Significance Levels of Correlations.	77
XIV	Coefficients of Correlation between Spatial Visual- ization Scores and Other Criteria for Groups Involved in Study.	78
XV	Coefficients of Correlation Between Mathematics Achievement Scores and Other Criteria for Groups Involved in Study.	79
XVI	Coefficients of Reliability for Spatial Visualization and Mathematics Achievement Tests for Groups Involved in Study.	81

## SPATIAL VISUALIZATION ABILITIES OF CENTRAL WASHINGTON STATE COLLEGE PROSPECTIVE ELEMENTARY AND SECONDARY TEACHERS OF MATHEMATICS

### CHAPTER I

### INTRODUCTION

### General Remarks

In recent years there has been a great upsurge of interest in the school mathematics program. One major result has been a realization of the importance of a fact long known but largely neglected. This is that the mathematics which students study in school is a continuous stream rather than a collection of separate units. Realization of this fact has created a demand for information about the mathematical processes and methods involved. Such information, if sufficiently detailed, could make it possible for teachers to improve their effectiveness in the classroom and enhance their students' realization of their own potentials in the present culture.

Education is of great concern to all Americans. Without education our young people could not get jobs, would be unable to participate intelligently and responsibly in civic and social activities, and would fail to achieve a measure of individual realization. Education is increasingly being recognized as the servant of all aspects of a full and rewarding way of life. The interest in, and demand for, change in the mathematical programs of the schools came from the above. Expressions of concern over the mathematical inadequacies of high school graduates have been heard for many years, and many of the expressions of concern have been substantiated by reliable experimentation (9, p. 87). Concern over the mathematical program in our schools was both widespread and acute. It was found among laymen as well as among professional people. The significance of this educational problem was emphasized by the work of various committees representing the thinking of professional organizations and by extensive experimentation being carried on in the schools and colleges.

One aspect of the concern relative to the mathematics programs was directly related to the mathematical preparation and background of the teachers of mathematics. The Mathematical Association of America, and other professional groups, have made recommendations in this area (13, p. 13). The Cambridge Conference on School Mathematics ignored the whole problem of teacher training and acted on the assumption that if a teachable mathematics program were developed, teachers would be trained to handle it (10, p. 3). It was recognized, however, that curricular development and teacher preparation must keep pace with each other in order to have an effective mathematics program in our schools.

Possibly the most critical element in the composite structure of

an effective mathematics program in the schools is the teacher himself. A poorly prepared teacher could destroy the effectiveness of any carefully selected and well-organized curriculum with inadequate and unenthusiastic instruction, inaccurate and uninformed interpretation, in addition to indifferent and negative attitudes.

It has been shown that a teacher who has a solid understanding of mathematics himself is more likely than not to develop a similar understanding in his pupils. It has been found that this "solid understanding" is frequently absent in teachers (17, p. 16).

Teachers on all levels, in elementary and secondary schools as well as in colleges, must be competent to teach mathematics with an understanding of traditional mathematics and an appreciation of the modern point of view, and they must be able to convey to the students a new insight into the nature of mathematical thought and reasoning and its role in our culture. The teacher's mastery of mathematical ideas must substantially exceed that represented by his textbook, if he is to teach with a spirit of enthusiasm and inquiry which will stimulate his students.

Several of the recent mathematics curriculum proposals have incorporated many of the recommendations of the College Entrance Examination Board (12, p. 26), one of which was to eliminate from the secondary mathematics curriculum a separate course in solid geometry. The recommendations further stipulated that the solid geometry,

or space, concepts should be incorporated into what was formerly referred to as a "plane" geometry course. The effective teaching of such concepts by the mathematics teachers is of concern to mathematics educators.

### Statement of Problem

There is a need, then, for careful investigation of the spatial visualization abilities of mathematics teachers at the elementary and secondary levels. To provide data relevant to this need, the present study investigated the spatial visualization abilities of prospective elementary and secondary mathematics teachers as measured by appropriate testing devices.

One of the major problems which has confronted mathematics teachers for a long time has been the development of the student's ability to visualize spatial relationships (26, p. 5). Minnick has stated:

Perhaps the student's greatest difficulty in beginning the study of geometry is seeing a three-dimensional figure. The three-dimensional figure is drawn in a two-dimensional space, but he is asked to see it in a three-dimensional sense. Such a transition is not easy. . . Then the first new instructional problem which the mathematics teacher meets is that of teaching students to read three-dimensional figures (40, pp. 237-239).

Kinney and Purdy also supported this view by stating that "without question, the most important teaching problem in solid geometry is that of developing ability to visualize" (32, p. 174).

The assumption has been made that no assistance in the visualization of three-dimensional figures is needed by students (26, p. 5). There is very little data from research studies upon which to base an evaluation, however. The presence of the aptitude to predict, or visualize, how an object will look when its shape and position are changed is a major factor in selecting persons from the general population for certain endeavors requiring this aptitude. The presence of sufficient perceptual acuity with both two- and three-dimensional objects is a critical factor for successful performance of construction projects (38, p. 2).

People live in a three-dimensional world. Hence, the major aim of early instruction in geometry should be to help the student acquire an understanding of the spatial relationships existing in the world around him; to train him in spatial imagination; to acquaint him with spatial forms; and to give him an analytic insight into his surroundings. Mere intuition does not do this for him. His imagination must be cultivated through intelligent guidance (5, p. 311).

Here the mathematics teacher enters the picture. Teachers exert both a personal and an intellectual influence on their students. Hence, the teacher's state of mind tends, for better or worse, to propagate itself. Thurstone has raised the question which forms the basis for this study:

. . . whether much more of this kind of thinking (spatial visualization) could be introduced into teaching in many fields if teachers had more ability or training in this area. Again, we are referring to the fact that teachers, being largely selected on the basis of their own ability in the verbal factor, are likely to restrict their handling of any subject to the abilities in which they themselves excel (66, p. 571).

It should be mentioned here that at Central Washington State College, where this investigation was conducted, there were no mathematics content courses required in the elementary education program. There were four courses, two offered by the mathematics department and two offered by the education department, available periodically as electives to prospective elementary teachers. The only required course related to mathematics was a course, Education 323, in the methods of teaching arithmetic. Individuals certificated to teach mathematics at the secondary level were required to complete a minimum of 22 quarter hours of mathematics, including a methods course in the teaching of secondary mathematics. It was entirely possible, and has happened, for individuals to graduate from Central Washington State College and be certified to teach elementary school mathematics without having completed a mathematics content course since the high school mathematics completed at the ninth or tenth grade levels.

#### Statement of Purposes

Within the limitations imposed, and under the assumptions listed in Chapter II, the purposes of this study were:

- To determine the extent to which college mathematics experiences developed spatial visualization ability in prospective elementary and secondary mathematics teachers.
- To determine and compare the degree of spatial visualization ability in several groups of prospective elementary and secondary mathematics teachers.
- 3. To measure the mathematical achievement of several groups of prospective elementary and secondary school teachers.
- 4. To determine the relationships which existed between the spatial visualization ability, mathematical achievement, and scholastic aptitude.
- 5. To determine the relationship between two spatial visualization measuring instruments.
- 6. To determine whether revisions in the mathematics curriculum at Central Washington State College should be recommended to provide for instruction in subject matter designed to develop the spatial visualization ability in prospective elementary and secondary mathematics teachers.
- 7. To make recommendations to mathematics teachers relative to their spatial visualization ability.

### CHAPTER II

#### AREA OF STUDY AND METHODOLOGY

#### Importance of the Study

Thurstone, in his research relative to primary mental abilities, recognized a space factor, S, a mental ability, which is associated with the visualization of objects in space. Most intelligent people are fairly well endowed with this factor, but there are many highly intelligent people who are conspicuously poor in this ability (64, p. 585). There are wide individual differences in the ability to think of objects in space (65, p. 527). Paterson and others reported that individuals were frequently baffled in their attempts to solve mechanical puzzles where the third dimension was involved (49, p. 290). He further stated:

It is possible that the prevailing educational systems may be responsible in part for the fact that most people habitually think in terms of two dimensions represented by the plane of the blackboard and the maps and diagrams commonly used as educational devices. . . In the early stages of reading a child recognizes a word upside down as readily as right side up. By the time adulthood is reached, this capacity is lost, but we do not know how or why. We do know, however, that it may be acquired by adults; that so short a practice period as ten hours will give considerable facility in reading upside down. . . Considerations of this sort suggest that such abilities as that of dealing with three-dimensional space may be determined not so largely by particular native capacities as by practice and experience (49, pp. 290-1). The problem of whether this spatial visualization ability is something which can be learned or is an inherited characteristic was a fact that seemed to be left unanswered in the literature. Piaget found that, in his experiments with young children, measurement in three dimensions, like that in two dimensions, showed a continuous development from level I on (51, p. 171). He also stated:

The forms of spatial knowledge, as a consequence of sensori-motor operations, are the resultants of actual manipulations by the organism within his environment. In this sense the organization of space is relatively egocentric, i. e., the intuition of space is not differentiated from the actions involved in its apprehension (33, p. 209).

Wohlwill placed the emphasis in teaching scientific and mathematical subjects to young children on an enrichment of their experiences; for example, getting them actively engaged in measuring shapes and sizes (72, p. 266).

Paterson (49, p. 291), Kinney (32, p. 174), Thorndike (63, p. 20), and Meserve (37, pp. 326-9) have indicated that such abilities as that of dealing with three-dimensional space may be determined not so much by particular inherited traits as through experience and practice.

On the other hand, Vernon wrote "... from early childhood we are aware of a three-dimensional spatial continuum of objects, extending away in all directions from ourselves as the centre" (69, p. 81). The factors of experience and familiarity undoubtedly exist and improve accuracy of judgments of distance, although it may be, as claimed by the Gestalt psychologists, that we have an innate tendency to perceive space three-dimensionally (69, p. 110). In this same vein, Flavell wrote:

Our adult representation of space is thus said to result from active manipulations of the spatial environment rather than from any "reading off" of this environment by the perceptual apparatus. . . It just seems natural to assume that we see space as it is and have always seen it that way (20, p. 328).

Under most conditions a person's intelligence remains fairly constant, although, as Stephens said, "we do know that there is some growth in mental abilities through the twentieth year at least" (60, pp. 136-8). This would tend to indicate that the spatial visualization ability, a mental ability according to Thurstone (64, p. 585), could possibly be developed further, at least through the twentieth year. However, Super found that changes in spatial visualization ability took place up to about age 14, after which it appeared that this ability was rather stable (62, p. 295).

Butler specified that geometric content of junior high school geometry should include developing the ability to draw and see solids in their proper perspective (9, pp. 470-1). A study of the outlines and materials of several of the recent mathematics curriculum proposals revealed that space geometry is not neglected in the over-all picture. The School Mathematics Study Group materials, for example, contained two strong units on space geometry in grade eight, and a

unified treatment of plane and solid geometry in grade ten. Threedimensional rectangular coordinate geometry and three-dimensional vectors are studied in grade eleven (47, p. 69).

The Cambridge Conference on School Mathematics suggested that geometry should be studied along with arithmetic and algebra from the kindergarten level on including experiences in visualization, such as constructing two-dimensional patterns and forming them into threedimensional figures (10, p. 33).

The Fifteenth Yearbook of the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics listed as a major goal in tenth-grade geometry:

IV Development of elementary spatial insight, and the habit of noticing geometric relations in three dimensions, and . . . Such a development can be secured by discussion and generalization of certain propositions or problems of plane geometry (46, p. 93).

The College Entrance Examination Board listed the "development of concepts of spatial relations, and of spatial perception" as an objective of mathematics teaching and suggested that a solid geometry course should be included in the curriculum (12, pp. 26-7). A survey of literature made by Breslich disclosed that, among the important objectives of intuitive geometry, training in space perception and imagination was to be emphasized. He defined "intuitive geometry" as "the geometry all people should know" (5, p. 235). The Committee on the Reorganization of Mathematics in Secondary Education listed as major goals in teaching mathematics: . . . . familiarity with the geometric forms common in nature, industry and life; the elementary properties and relations of these forms, including their mensuration; the development of space perception; and the exercise of spatial imagination; . . . (5, p. 236).

Relative to recommendations for the training of teachers of mathematics in spatial concepts the Mathematical Association of America has recommended courses in informal geometry for elementary teachers and more formalized courses in geometry for secondary teachers of mathematics (13, pp. 11-12). Meserve included in his list of topics, which should be considered in the preparation of teachers of mathematics, a course which would extend geometry to threespace and higher dimensions (36, p. 439). Mathematics programs, such as the School Mathematics Study Group (55, p. 341), the Report of the Commission on Mathematics of the College Entrance Examination Board (12, p. 26) and the University of Illinois Committee on School Mathematics (29, pp. 1-2) have prepared materials concerned with spatial visualization and teaching techniques for the use of mathematics teachers and have included such materials and experiences in their student texts.

Davis suggested that prospective secondary mathematics teachers should take a course in solid analytic geometry which, among other things, develops better space perception, and, further, that a prospective teacher should gain a sufficient mastery and perception of the subject matter so that he not only "understands it himself but is

able to explain it clearly to others" (16, pp. 358-9). Fehr agreed with this suggestion as he claimed that "To develop space perception, we must teach a type of geometry different from the traditional Euclidean course" (19, p. 16). He advocated a space coordinate geometry combined with descriptive and projective geometries to fill the need.

Young made a statement which suggested the goal in developing space perception, in addition to all of mathematics, namely:

. . . Whether we regard mathematics from the utilitarian point of view, according to which the pupil is to gain facility in using a powerful tool, or from the purely logical aspect, according to which he is to gain the power of logical thinking, it is clear that the chief end of mathematical study must be to make the pupil think. If mathematical teaching fails to do this, it fails altogether. . . (73, p. 4).

#### Structure of the Study

This study would be considered of a "true" experimental design, a recommended experimental procedure where the sources of internal and external invalidity are controlled to a great extent, and where the use of pretests in the ordinary sense are not convenient (21, pp. 195-6). Within limits of confidence specified by the tests of significance, randomization can suffice without the administration of a pretest. Design of the study is designated as:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} R_{i} & X & O_{1}, O_{2}, O_{3} \\ R_{j} & O_{1}, O_{2}, O_{3} \end{array}$$

where  $R_i$  represents the groups of prospective elementary and secondary mathematics teachers,  $R_j$  represents the remaining groups of prospective teachers, experienced teachers, and freshman mathematics students; X, the experimental variable, represents the mathematical preparation of prospective elementary and secondary teachers of mathematics; and  $O_1$ ,  $O_2$ ,  $O_3$  represent the dependent variables used in this study.

The dependent variable or criterion used in this study was defined in terms of the score each individual attained on each of two standardized spatial visualization tests and on a standardized mathematics achievement test.

The independent variables or control variables used in this study were the cumulative grade-point-average and a measure of scholastic aptitude. Using these criteria for each group tested, an attempt was then made to determine whether or not there was any significant difference in the spatial visualization abilities and mathematics achievement among the various groups of individuals being investigated.

Analysis of covariance techniques were used to provide the investigator with a means of attaining some measure of control of individual differences in scholastic aptitude and academic ability. Analysis of covariance incorporates elements of the analysis of variance and of regression (70, p. 343).

#### Population for the Study

The population for this study consisted of undergraduate and graduate students at Central Washington State College, Ellensburg, Washington. Central Washington State College was a tax-supported coeducational institution with a 1964-65 enrollment of approximately 3600 students, of which approximately 75 percent were enrolled in a teacher-education curriculum. An extensive summer session program was organized for experienced teachers to complete work on a fifthyear program or a master's degree. The sample consisted of junior and senior students who, prior to their student-teaching experiences, were enrolled in special methods classes in certain subject-matter areas during the 1964-65 academic year, first-quarter freshman mathematics students in the fall quarter 1964, and experienced elementary and secondary mathematics teachers enrolled during the summer session 1965. A total of 530 students was involved in the study. Randomization of the sample was accomplished at registration.

#### Assumptions

Major assumptions related to this study were:

1. Spatial visualization ability is important to the development of our culture. Super supported this assumption by his statement: It is an aptitude which has long been considered important in such clearly similar activities as machine-shop work, carpentry, mechanical drawing, in which the worker must judge shape and size and translate two-dimensional drawings into three-dimensional objects, and which has been considered likely to be important in certain other occupations, the principal activities of which were not quite so clearly similar, such as engineering and art (62, p. 283).

He also stated that presence of the trait in a high degree cannot be considered a good prognosticator of success but that its relative absence in an individual can be considered a deterrent to success (62, p. 307). Fehr stated that one of the most frequently mentioned desired outcomes of the study of geometry has been the development of space visualization and that this perception is considered a great need in architectural and engineering study (19, p. 16).

2. Spatial visualization ability in teachers of mathematics is necessary in order to develop this ability in their students. Thurstone stated that teachers are likely to restrict their handling of any subject to the abilities they themselves have (66, p. 371). The Cambridge Conference on School Mathematics also stated that if the elementary teachers in the next generation do not understand what they are teaching then the results may be worse than we are getting now (10, p. 27). Efficient and successful teaching of demonstrative geometry in the secondary school requires on the part of the teacher much more than a knowledge of subject matter (59, p. 99). Kinney inferred that a student cannot be expected to possess any great competence in spatial insight when he enters a geometry class, and as a result, specific instruction must be given (32, p. 174).

3. Spatial visualization abilities can be developed through instruction. Corle suggested that discussion of space is a good beginning for the elementary teacher to introduce geometric space concepts to children (15, p. 284). Breslich stated that it required training in order for an individual to understand diagrams (5, p. 312). The 15th Yearbook of the National Council of Mathematics recommended that much attention should be given to the visualization of spatial figures and relations (46, p. 97). Kinney also supported this assumption by stating that "specific instruction must be given" (32, p. 174). Paterson stated that:

. . . such abilities as that of dealing with three-dimensional space may be determined not so largely by particular native capacities as by practice and experience (49, p. 291).

4. Spatial visualization abilities can be measured objectively. Thurstone supported this assumption when he indicated two space factors  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  existed as primary abilities (65, p. 527). Piaget also measured the development of spatial relationships (51, p. 171). Lawshe stated that "some authorities contend that tests of this sort are really non-language intelligence tests" (34, p. 124).

5. Valid and reliable testing instruments were available for measuring spatial visualization abilities and mathematics achievement. Validity and reliability of testing instruments will be discussed in another section of this chapter.

### Hypotheses

The study was planned to test the hypothesis that Central Washington State College prospective elementary and secondary school teachers with college mathematics backgrounds have developed a higher degree of spatial visualization ability than those prospective elementary and secondary teachers who have not had college mathematics backgrounds. It was predicted that prospective elementary and secondary teachers with college mathematics backgrounds would have greater proficiency in spatial visualization than would those prospective teachers without college mathematics backgrounds.

To test the hypothesis, the following null hypotheses were established to be treated statistically.

1. There is no difference between the spatial visualization abilities of prospective elementary teachers of mathematics and the spatial visualization abilities of prospective secondary teachers of mathematics.

2. There is no difference between the spatial visualization abilities of prospective elementary teachers of mathematics and the spatial visualization abilities of experienced elementary teachers of mathematics.

3. There is no difference between the spatial visualization abilities of prospective elementary teachers of mathematics and the spatial

visualization abilities of experienced secondary teachers of mathematics.

4. There is no difference between the spatial visualization abilities of prospective secondary teachers of mathematics and the spatial visualization abilities of experienced elementary teachers of mathematics.

5. There is no difference between the spatial visualization abilities of prospective secondary teachers of mathematics and the spatial visualization abilities of experienced secondary teachers of mathematics.

6. There is no difference between the spatial visualization abilities of prospective elementary teachers of mathematics and the spatial visualization abilities of prospective elementary and secondary teachers in other academic fields, such as science, English, social sciencies, fine arts and industrial arts.

7. There is no difference between the spatial visualization abilities of prospective secondary teachers of mathematics and the spatial visualization abilities of prospective elementary and secondary teachers in other academic fields, such as science, English, social sciences, fine arts and industrial arts.

8. There is no difference between the spatial visualization abilities of prospective teachers of mathematics and the spatial visualization abilities of first-quarter freshman students enrolled in college level mathematics classes.

9. There is no relationship between achievement in mathematics and spatial visualization abilities.

10. There is no relationship between scholastic ability and spatial visualization abilities.

## Limitations of the Study

The investigation reported in this study was subject to the following limitations:

1. Spatial visualization abilities will be the only factors of concern.

2. The spatial visualization abilities of the individuals involved in this study may be influenced by past and present learning situations, both academic and non-academic, which were not considered.

3. The study was limited to experienced teachers, prospective elementary and secondary teachers, and first-quarter freshman mathematics students enrolled at Central Washington State College during the academic year 1964-65 and the summer session 1965.

4. The study was limited to relatively small groups of students at a single educational institution, thus limiting the extent to which the results can be generalized.

5. Individuals involved in the study were aware of the fact that they were subjects of an experiment, and this fact may have had some effect on the results of the study, although efforts were made to control this possible influence (the Hawthorne effect).

6. The use of random sampling techniques was limited by the necessity to use the best statistical procedures for testing hypotheses and the availability of classes of individuals to be used in this study.

#### Definitions of Terms and Abbreviations Used

For the purposes of this study, the following terms were used:

1. Prospective teacher: any college student enrolled in the education program leading to a bachelor's degree and certification to teach in the public schools of the State of Washington.

2. Elementary mathematics teachers: elementary school teachers who teach mathematics in addition to other subjects.

3. Visual space perception: ability depending on combinations of the following eight factors: distinctness, shadow, position, relative size, relative motion, sensations of accomodation in the eye, binocular differences in the eye, and sensations of convergence in the eye (45, p. 103).

4. Spatial visualization, or spatial imagination: visual relations of objects in space as they are visually manipulated (23, p. 601); the ability to judge the relations of objects in space, to judge shapes and sizes, to manipulate them mentally, to visualize the effects of putting them together or of turning them around (62, p. 283). 5. Experienced teacher: a teacher who has taught in the public schools at least one year.

6. Coefficient of correlation (r): a pure number, ranging between positive one and negative one, which denotes the tendency for corresponding observations in two or more sets of data to vary together from the averages of their respective sets of data. The deviation-score method of computation of the correlation was used in this study to facilitate computations involved:

$$\mathbf{r} = \frac{\mathbf{N}\Sigma\mathbf{X}\mathbf{Y} - \Sigma\mathbf{X}\Sigma\mathbf{Y}}{\sqrt{(\mathbf{N}\Sigma\mathbf{X}^{2} - (\Sigma\mathbf{X})^{2})(\mathbf{N}\Sigma\mathbf{Y}^{2} - (\Sigma\mathbf{Y})^{2})}}$$

- where r is the coefficient of correlation between the two criteria,
  - N is the number of scores,
  - $\Sigma X$  is the sum of the scores on a first criterion,
  - $\Sigma Y$  is the sum of the scores on a second criterion,
  - $\Sigma X^2$  is the sum of the squares of the scores on the first criterion,
  - $\Sigma Y^{2}$  is the sum of the squares of the scores on the second criterion,
  - $\Sigma XY$  is the sum of the products of scores on the first criterion and second criterion for each member of a sample.

7. Analysis of covariance: an extension of the methods of analysis of variance in which adjustments are made in the data for the criterion variable on the basis of data collected on one or more other variables which vary concomitantly with the criterion variable. Assumptions underlying the use of the analysis of covariance are similar to those of analysis of variance and regression, namely:

- 1. Observations in each category must be random samples.
- 2. The variances within the subgroups are from a normally distributed population.
- 3. Linearity of the data is also assumed.

In the actual research situation it may be difficult to satisfy all the assumptions; however, it is doubtful whether this failure is sufficiently great to invalidate the application of the technique. Evidence suggested that the limits of tolerance within which the assumptions must be approximated are wider than it was originally thought (70, p. 183, 343).

8. Reliability coefficient: A measure of reliability of a test, derived from the Kuder-Richardson formula (25, p. 225) and based on the assumption that all test items are of the same difficulty. While this is not perfectly true of the tests administered in this study, it is approximately true. The computation is relatively simple and uses only the mean, variance and number of items on the test, as follows:



where  $r_{xx}$  is the reliability of the test, N is the number of items on the test,  $\overline{X}$  is the mean of the test scores,  $s^2$  is the variance of the test scores.

9. Validity coefficient: "Validity is a highly relative concept", according to Guilford (24, p. 461). This same viewpoint will be followed in this study. Guilford adds that "A test is valid for (some activity) if its scores correlate highly with (some criterion)" (24, p. 463). Using both these concepts, all obtained correlations will be considered valid only on relative bases. Since a particular test may have different correlations with some other single test obtained from two different groups of individuals, there can be no single "validity" for any given test. Each test is only relatively valid, and for different criteria yields a different validity index or coefficient of validity.

The following abbreviations were used throughout the study and were used in reporting the data obtained:

WPCVM Washington Pre-College Testing Program combined verbal and quantitative test scores administered through the University of Washington to all high school graduates entering colleges in the State of Washington.

- DATSR Spatial Relations Test This is part of the DAT, Differential Aptitude Tests battery, published by the Psychological Corporation.
- MPFB Revised Minnesota Paper Form Board Test This test is also published by the Psychological Corporation.
- STEPM Sequential Tests of Educational Progress, Mathematics-Level 1, Form B - A mathematics achievement test published by Cooperative Test Division, Educational Testing Service.
- GPA Grade-point-average In the case of prospective teachers and experienced teachers this referred to college grade-point-average; for the freshman mathematics students this referred to eighthsemester high school grade-point-average.
- PEM Prospective elementary mathematics teachers -There were 57 individuals in this group for this study.
- PSM Prospective secondary mathematics teachers -There were 75 individuals in this group for this study.
- PE Prospective English teachers There were 46 individuals in this group.
- PSS Prospective social science teachers There were 45 individuals in this group.
- PAI Prospective art and/or industrial arts teachers -There were 41 individuals in this group.
- PS Prospective science teachers There were 49 individuals in this group.
- FM Freshman mathematics students There were 157 individuals in this group.
- EEM Experienced elementary mathematics teachers -There were 35 individuals in this group.
# ESM Experienced secondary mathematics teachers -There were 25 individuals in this group.

#### Instruments Used in the Study

A brief, easily-answered questionnaire, designed by the investigator, to aid in assessing the mathematical background, college background, teaching experience, and other personal data was completed by each individual in the study. (See Appendix.)

The Washington Pre-College Verbal and Quantitative Test scores were obtained from records available in the Counseling and Testing Office at Central Washington State College for each undergraduate student in the study. The verbal test score was obtained from a 25minute, 72-item vocabulary test aimed at evaluating the individual's ability to abstract or generalize and to think constructively, rather than at simple fluency or vocabulary recognition. The antonym form of test items was appropriate for the measurement of reasoning ability. The quantitative test score was obtained from a 23-minute, 80-item quantitative skill test measuring the individual's ability to do quantitative reasoning as measured by arithmetic problems, number series, and figure analogies. It was a test to measure the student's ability to reason with numbers, to manipulate numerical relationships and to deal intelligently with quantitative materials. The total of the verbal test score and the quantitative test score was used as a

measure of general learning ability or scholastic ability. On the basis for which these tests were designed the validity and reliability coefficients, respectively, were 0.64 and 0.57.

Differential Aptitude Space Relations Test (DATSR).

This test employed items of the type called "surface development". A pattern for a geometric surface was provided for each item. Each item was provided with five isometric drawings of various figures. The task was to indicate all the solid figures which could be made from the given pattern. The solid figures were rotated into various positions in space. All the items involved threedimensional space. The maximum possible score was 100. Scoring was based on the number correct less the number incorrect. This test was designed to evaluate the ability to deal with concrete materials through visualization and to create structure in an individual's mind from a given pattern. In the data furnished by the publisher, the coefficients of reliability ranged from 0. 86 to 0. 94.

#### Revised Minnesota Paper Form Board Test (MPFB)

This test contained 64 items to be completed in 20 minutes. Each item contained a given box containing several separate plane figures. There were five additional plane drawings provided, which showed a single plane figure consisting of joined parts. The problem was to select the single joined figure which represented the assembly of the given separate figures. This test was complicated by the fact that some items had similar parts, but of different dimensions. Scoring was based on the number correct. This test was designed to measure the ability to visualize the assembly of geometric shapes into a whole design.

Sequential Tests of Educational Progress - Mathematics (STEPM)

This was a 70-minute test, consisting of two 35-minute units, consisting of 50 multiple-choice items from which the correct conclusion based on the given information was to be selected. The test items were constructed in such a way as to measure broad understanding of general mathematical concepts rather than specific course work in mathematics. Reliability coefficients, reported by the publisher, ranged from 0.83 to 0.89. One major deficiency in terms of content of the tests was the highly verbal character of the problems.

#### Procedures and Methods of Research

In the fall of 1964 the investigator discussed the study with the Dean of Instruction at Central Washington State College and received his permission to proceed in implementing the testing program necessary for the study. Colleagues of the investigator in the mathematics department volunteered to assist in administering tests to the freshman mathematics classes. Other members of the faculty who were involved in teaching special methods classes in the areas of English, social science, fine arts, industrial arts, elementary mathematics, science, and secondary mathematics during the academic year 1964-65 were approached by the investigator and were asked to permit the testing program to be conducted with their students in these special methods classes. All members of the faculty who were approached, except for one professor teaching elementary mathematics methods, graciously granted permission to use their students and the class time in which to administer the tests and questionnaire. Each quarter the investigator made specific arrangements to administer the tests.

On the second day of classes in the fall quarter all freshman students enrolled in mathematics classes were asked to complete the brief personal data questionnaire and the Differential Aptitude Spatial Relations Test (DATSR) and the Revised Minnesota Paper Form Board Test (MPFB) were administered. Special arrangements were made with the students involved to take the Sequential Test of Educational Progress - Mathematics (STEPM).

On previously arranged days during the first four weeks of each quarter of the academic year students in the special methods classes, which had been selected, completed the personal data questionnaire, and the DATSR, the MPFB, and the Sequential Test of Educational

Progress - Mathematics (STEPM) were administered.

During the summer session 1965 similar procedures were followed with special classes in elementary and secondary mathematics in which there were a number of experienced teachers enrolled.

In all instances instructors were asked not to alert their students relative to participating in the study. The investigator administered the questionnaire and the tests in all cases, except for some of the freshman mathematics sections. A brief explanation of the purposes of the testing was offered in each class. All tests were hand-scored by the investigator. Test scores were made available for the information of both students involved in the study and interested instructors.

For other relevant data needed in the study the investigator found the transcripts of students and test scores readily available in the offices of the Director of Testing and Counseling and the Registrar of the college.

Each student participating in the study was given a code number by the investigator specifying his category, i. e., freshman, prospective English teacher, etc.; his college status, i. e., undergraduate or graduate; his level of teaching preparation, i. e., elementary or secondary; and his standing in his category. Some of the pertinent personal data was also coded by the investigator for easier reference and use in analysis. The student number; the coded personal data; the WPCVM scores; the scores on the DATSR, MPFB, and STEPM tests; total credits, and grade-point-average (GPA) for each student were entered on IBM cards. Statistical programs were written and debugged by the investigator for the IBM 1620 computer which was available at Central Washington State College for research use. After the data and the statistical programs were accumulated, they were processed on the computer by the investigator. The first phase calculated means, standard deviations, and various correlation coefficients for each of the categories of individuals involved; the second phase calculated data needed for the following phase, which used this data and applied it in the analysis of covariance computations.

The analysis of covariance computations were carried out considering two control variables. Since scholastic aptitude and academic ability could conceivably influence each individual's response to a spatial visualization test, DATSR or MPFB, or the mathematics achievement test, STEPM, these influences were controlled by obtaining the WPCVM scores as a measure of scholastic aptitude and the college grade-point-averages as a measure of academic ability for each individual in the sample. By using these scores as control variables in the analysis of covariance, the possible bias introduced by individual differences was removed insofar as these factors adequately represent the differences in question. High school gradepoint-averages were used as a measure of academic ability for control purposes for the freshman mathematics students involved in the study, as no college grade-point-averages were yet available.

The analysis of covariance computations involving the two groups of experienced teachers, EEM and ESM, were carried out considering only one control variable, college grade-point-average, as a measure of academic ability, as the WPCVM scores were not available for the majority of these individuals, and there were no other common criteria available for control purposes with the prospective teacher groups.

The data were then summarized and an attempt was made to analyze them.

## Overview of Thesis

Significant writings related to spatial visualization abilities will be reviewed in Chapter III. In Chapter IV the educational background, teaching experience, and other personal data obtained through the use of the brief questionnaire will be summarized and discussed, while in Chapter V the data obtained in the investigation will be organized, analyzed, and interpreted.

Chapter VI will be devoted to summarizing the findings and to presenting a number of recommendations and implications based on the data obtained in the study.

## CHAPTER III

## REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE

No research studies were found which related directly to the relationship of spatial visualization ability of a mathematics teacher and his educational background. Neither was there found any literature relating directly to the problem of a mathematics teacher's success in the classroom and his spatial visualization ability. Tending to confirm the absence of studies directly related to the present study, Watson and Blade reported,

.... so far as we know, there have been no previous experimental studies which undertook to relate an individual student's background to his spatial visualization score. .... (2, p. 2).

Literature did exist which related spatial visualization ability to success in such fields as architecture, drafting, engineering, and industrial arts teaching.

## Perception of Space

Piaget defines schemata as repeatable behavior (39, p. 201). Thus, a representation of an observable behavior pattern exists in the cognitive structure and forms the basis for future cognitive and behavioral functioning in subsequent situational contexts. In some ways one could describe a schema as a response in the sense that it is repeatable and reliable in a specific situation. Now it may be argued that these responses will always be intuitively available in spatial, numerical, or causal form. In discussing the implications of Piaget's work, Langer stated:

These categorical forms of intuition provide the continuity of cognitive organization even though it is constantly changing in the course of developmental growth. . . The forms of spatial knowledge as a consequence of sensori-motor operations, are the resultants of actual manipulations by the organism within his environment. In this sense the organization of space is relatively egocentric, i. e., the intuition of space is not differentiated from the actions involved in its apprehension (33, p. 209).

The positive, constructive something which we inherit, Piaget stated, is a mode of intellectual function. We do not inherit cognitive structures as such--these come into being only in the course of development. The mode of functioning which Piaget said, ". . . constitutes our biological heritage", remains essentially constant throughout life (20, p. 43). Just as with object development, the development of space perception is primarily one of progressive "externalization and desubjectification" (20, p. 135). Wohlwill supported this view:

In other words, I think one has to look at the role of experience in relation to the level of the development of the child. . . . More particularly, it seems to me that the experience should ideally have a built-in feedback possibility for the child (72, p. 225).

Piaget found that in young children the perception of space is an early developmental product, while the representation of space is quite different and appears much later (20, p. 232). Vernon found that,

The factors of experience and familiarity undoubtedly exist and improve accuracy of judgments of distance, although it may be, as claimed by the Gestalt psychologists, that we have an <u>innate tendency</u> to perceive space three-dimensionally (69, p. 110).

Flavell indicated that his findings

. . . show clearly that it would be a mistake to imagine that human beings have some innate or psychologically precocious knowledge of the spatial surroundings organized in a two- or three-dimensional reference frame (20, p. 333).

Wohwill recommended providing children with a broad base of experience which would assure them of developing their cognitive skills (72, p. 226). Peel even went so far as to state that,

. . . it looks as if concept formation in adolescence and adult life differs from concept formation in childhood only in that the heirarchial and multiplicative structures of the logic of classes and relations are available. But new criteria of action (mental and physical) and perception may still have to be constructed at all ages (50, p. 229).

Jerome Bruner has provided a psychological rationale for the major ideas of the new mathematics curricula (8). As much of his interpretation of new concepts and new methods in education was made in the light of Piaget's discussion of intellectual development, Bruner has stimulated much interest among mathematics educators in Piaget's work. For example, Piaget's evidence that the child of nine or ten can handle many of the basic concepts of Euclidean spatial representation and measurement is mirrored in the placement of such topics in the elementary curriculum by the School Mathematics Study Group (31, p. 248). Boehm reported that a few mathematicians have exceptional spatial visualization and computational skills (3, p. 22). He further concluded that "mathematicians probably cannot visualize ordinary shapes as clearly as engineers and mechanics. . . " (3, p. 23). Minnick found that incomplete drawings made by individuals in various professions were due largely to their inability to visualize the figure from a verbal description (40, p. 192).

## The Case for Solid Geometry

Whether the inclusion of solid geometry concepts in the elementary and secondary school curricula would lead to extensive development of spatial visualization abilities has been a matter for concern for many of the curricula study groups. Relative to this Johler commented that.

"Seeing solid", that is looking at a drawing or a figure in one plane and comprehending it in three dimensions, is one essential concept of solid geometry. The converse, to think of, comprehend, or see a three-dimensional object. . . is of equal importance (30, p. 253).

Breslich pointed out that one of the difficulties experienced by students in high school courses in solid geometry was that they were unable to understand geometric figures all of whose points did not lie in one plane (5, p. 311). He blamed the intensive study of plane geometry for this problem and suggested that three-dimensional geometry instruction and experiences should begin in the seventh and eighth grades (5, p. 312).

The College Entrance Examination Board in 1959 recommended the inclusion of solid geometry concepts as a part of the secondary geometry course (12, p. 26), a recommendation that the School Mathematics Study Group followed in their courses of study (56, p. 20). The University of Illinois Committee on School Mathematics, for instance, went further by developing a programmed text in solid geometry to be used as a three or four week supplement to their course of study (29, p. 2). The recommendation for inclusion of solid geometry concepts in the high school geometry course was not of recent vintage as the Fifteenth Yearbook of the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics in 1940 stated that the development of spatial insight "can be secured by discussion and generalization of certain propositions or problems of plane geometry" (46, p. 93).

The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics warned, in 1960, that

The fact that none of the improved programs contains a course called <u>solid geometry</u> should not lead us to conclude that solid geometry is regarded as unimportant. There has been a change in the way space geometry is presented (47, pp. 68-69).

Fehr reported a study of over 1,000 students in which it was found that the traditional course in solid geometry, or excerpts of this course imbedded in the plane geometry course, did not develop space perception significantly. Students who did not study solid geometry made more gain in space perception, as measured by space relations tests, than those students who did study the traditional course (19, p. 16). Brown reported a similar study which indicated that little, if any, improvement in space perception resulted from the study of solid geometry (7, p. 11). Gibney reported from her study that high school geometry students scored lowest on primary mental ability tests in spatial relationships (22, p. 182).

Holcomb conducted an investigation relative to teaching solid geometry concepts to different classes by the traditional Euclidean unit method and an "analytic" unit method and pre- and post-testing the students with different forms of the Differential Aptitude Space Relations Test. He found the greatest gain in spatial visualization ability was made by the class taught by the "analytic" unit method (28).

## Relationships With Spatial Visualization Ability

Turner reported the results of her study on the measurement of spatial visualization concepts in grades one through nine. She found that test items which contained factors other than shape alone tended to discriminate between students at different levels of performance to a greater degree than test items which did not. A two-way analysis of variance was used to establish the relationship of age, sex, and mental ability to spatial visualization ability. She found that there was a highly significant relationship between chronological age and spatial visualization ability and, also, a highly significant relationship between mental age and spatial visualization ability. She found no significant relationship existed between sex and spatial visualization ability (67).

Shaw reported a study among entering ninth-grade students of the relationship between primary mental abilities and high school achievement. He found that spatial visualization ability had little relationship to measures of achievement (58).

Super found that spatial visualization ability did not correlate well with other tests of mental ability and, in fact, gave poor predictions of school achievement, increasingly so with increasing age. He suggested that, as a result,

. . . the degree of spatial judgment possessed in middle adolescence or adulthood is not a good indicator of the amount of any other mental ability possessed by the individual (62, p. 283).

He further concluded that the spatial visualization testing resulted in measuring a "trait which is related to mental ability in childhood but relatively independent in adulthood" (62, p. 283). Super found, also, that a moderately high spatial visualization score in a very able person did not mean special aptitude for professional or technical work and that a high spatial visualization score for a person of low average intelligence might well indicate promise for the skilled trades (62,

p. 295).

Thurstone, in a study of high school students, found a correlation of 0.304 between the Primary Mental Abilities (Space) Test and the Iowa Test of Ability to Do Quantitative Thinking and a correlation of 0.283 between the Primary Mental Abilities (Space) Test and the Iowa Test of Background in the Natural Sciences (66, p. 576). This again seemed to indicate that there was little relationship between spatial visualization ability and achievement.

Mendocino, in 1958, administered the Differential Aptitude Mechanical Reasoning Test and the Differential Aptitude Spatial Relations Test (DATSR) to tenth-grade vocational machine shop students and tenth-grade non-vocational students and found that machine shop experiences in grade ten resulted in no greater growth in mechanical reasoning or space perception than did a year of a non-vocational curriculum. He concluded that the increase in scores of the control group was due to growth or development and in no way attributable to training (35).

Schmidt and Rothney reported that tenth-grade students selecting future occupations as machinists, mechanics, doctors, art and engineering did not make significantly higher scores on spatial visualization tests, which were said to measure abilities necessary for these occupations, than students who selected other future occupations. Students who selected drafting as a future occupation indicated superiority on the spatial visualization tests (54). Bowman, in a study of the basic mathematical skills needed to teach industrial arts in the public schools, recommended that, based on study evidence, prospective industrial arts teachers be required to complete a course in, among others, solid geometry. He also reported that inservice teachers of industrial arts, at the public school and college levels, and individuals involved in the fields of industrial arts activities rated algebra and solid geometry backgrounds as necessary for success in the field (4).

## The Blade-Watson Study of Engineering Students (2)

Blade and Watson conducted a study investigating the effect of practice and/or training on scores on a spatial relationship test at Cooper Union School of Engineering. The test was given as a part of an entrance examination and consisted of two parts, Intersections and Blocks, with a one-hour time limit. After one year of engineering study, including mechanical drawing and mathematics, scores on the spatial visualization test, after a re-test, increased by almost one standard deviation over the first set of scores. They concluded that spatial visualization was subject to noteworthy changes due to the kind and extent of training, and that low scores did not necessarily indicate lack of spatial visualization ability. Although no correlations were published, Blade and Watson indicated that those students who scored highest on the spatial visualization test also indicated

higher achievement in mathematics and engineering drawing.

## The Roe Study of Eminent Scientists (53, pp. 21-25)

A special spatial relations test was constructed by the Educational Testing Service for the use of Roe in the study of 64 physicists, biologists, and social scientists. The test consisted of 24 items to be completed in 20 minutes. Each item consisted of four isometric drawings in various positions. The problem was to select the unique pair of blocks which were congruent. A mathematics achievement test of 35 minutes duration was also given to each of the participants in the study. The age range of the participants was 40 to 50 years.

Roe reported a correlation of 0.21 between spatial visualization score and mathematical achievement, a correlation of 0.40 between spatial visualization and age, and a correlation of 0.00 between age and mathematical achievement. The only significant correlation was that between age and spatial visualization ability--this at the 0.01 level of significance.

# The Lorge Study of Doctoral Candidates (57, pp. 20-21)

Lorge administered the same spatial relations test as Roe used to 174 doctoral candidates in Education and Philosophy at Columbia University. Other tests were also administered in this study. The age range of the participants was from 20 to 35 years. Lorge reported a correlation of 0. 38 between spatial visualization and mathematics achievement, a correlation of 0. 24 between spatial visualization and age, and a correlation of 0. 23 between mathematics achievement and age. All of these correlations were found to be significant, the spatial visualization-mathematics achievement correlation at the 0.01 level of significance and the others at the 0.05 level of significance.

## The Sharo Study of 60 High School Students (57)

Sharo selected 60 students at Stuyvesant High School and administered four different spatial relations tests, the spatial test used by Roe, the spatial test used by Blade and Watson at Cooper Union School of Engineering, the Minnesota Paper Form Board Test (MPFB), and the Abstract Reasoning Test of the Differential Aptitude Battery (57, p. 15). Only those students who had previously taken a Physics Regents Examination were involved in the study. Several mathematics tests and physics tests were also administered to the participants in the study. The age range of the participants was from 16 to 19 years.

Sharo reported a correlation of 0.34 between spatial visualization and solid geometry, a correlation of 0.40 between spatial visualization and algebra, a correlation of 0.09 between spatial visualization and age (57, p. 36). All of these correlations, except the last one, were significant at the 0.01 level of significance. The last correlation

was not significant.

Among the conclusions Sharo drew from his study were the following:

1. Some Visual Spatial Relations tests can be used, at significant levels of confidence, as valid indices of academic achievement in Physics and Mathematics. They are somewhat less valid as indices of Chemistry achievement, and of negligible or negative validity as indices of English achievement.

2. Mathematics tests are more valid indices of Physics than are either Visual Spatial Relations tests or English tests (57, p. 45).

He also reported that solid geometry seemed to be a good index of academic achievement in the study of Physics (57, p. 39).

Summary

The review of the related literature supplied background information and indicated the significance and timeliness of the study.

A broader perspective of the factors involved in the ability to visualize spatially was derived from textbooks and journal articles.

The data obtained from the research in cognitive development and the uncertainty of psychologists and sociologists as to the development of this spatial visualization ability were valuable. The debate relative to the inclusion and placement of solid geometry concepts in the school curricula was of current interest as the many curricula reforms and studies are being tested and implemented. Studies reporting indications that solid geometry study in the schools had no greater value in helping develop the spatial visualization ability were of particular interest, if not disturbing.

Several reports emphasized the small relationship between spatial visualization and mathematics achievement, while other studies indicated that there was a significant relationship.

The problems cited and the importance attached to the spatial visualization ability indicated the importance of gathering further data relative to the development of this ability, particularly with respect to prospective teachers of elementary and secondary mathematics.

## CHAPTER IV

# PERSONAL DATA OF PARTICIPANTS IN THE STUDY

### Status of Prospective Teachers

One hundred nine of the 313 prospective teachers at Central Washington State College, who participated in the study, were in their third year of college study, 185 were in their fourth year of college study, and 19 had received a bachelor's degree in some academic field and were completing the requirements for a teaching credential.

The average age of the prospective teachers who participated in the study was 23 years with a range from 19 years to 51 years, a span of 32 years.

One hundred eighty-eight of the prospective teachers were preparing to teach at the secondary school level, while 125 were preparing to teach at the elementary school level. There were 175 male prospective teachers and 138 female prospective teachers involved in the study. Of the male prospective teachers, 124 were preparing to teach at the secondary level, and 51 were preparing to teach at the elementary level. Sixty-four female prospective teachers were preparing to teach at the secondary level, while 74 were preparing to teach at the elementary level. These data are presented in Table I together with the number of prospective teachers in each of the groups

		Groups*						All	
Criteria		PSM	PEM	PSS	PAI	PE	PS	Groups	
Number of Participants		57	75	45	41	46	49	313	
Sex	Male	44	28	23	26	16	38	175	
	Female	13	47	22	15	30	11	138	
Age	Range	19-43	19-51	19-44	19-37	20-45	19-30	19-51	
- 6 -	Mean	23.1	23.7	24.8	22.6	23.2	22.7	23.4	
Year in College	e 3rd	22	19	10	15	<b>2</b> 9	14	109	
U	4th	30	51	31	24	15	34	185	
	5th	5	5	4	2	2	ĺ	19	
Teaching Level	Preference								
C	Elementary	0	75	20	10	11	6	122	
	Secondary	57	0	25	31	35	43	191	
Degree Status	None	52	70	41	39	44	48	294	
	B. A.	5	5	4	2	2	1	19	
	M. A.	0	0	0	0	0	0	<sup>~</sup> 0	
Student Teachin	ng								
Experience	Completed	11	18	5	5	7	8	54	
- No	ot Completed	46	57	40	3.6	39	41	<b>2</b> 59	

Table I. Summary of Personal Information of Prospective Teachers.

\*PSM - Prospective Secondary Mathematics Teachers

PEM - Prospective Elementary Mathematics Teachers

PSS - Prospective Social Science Teachers

PAI - Prospective Art /Industrial Arts Teachers

PE - Prospective English Teachers

PS - Prospective Science Teachers

involved in the study.

Fifty-four of the participants had completed their studentteaching requirements prior to participating in the study, while 257 had not entered the student-teaching phase of their program of study.

## Mathematics Preparation of Prospective Teachers

A summary was made of the number of credits in mathematics completed by the participants in the study at the high school level and the college level. The average number of semester credits completed at the high school level was 6.2, while the average number of quarter hours completed in mathematics at the college level was 9.1. These data are not valid indications, however, as they were biased by either the lack of mathematics completed by, say, the group of prospective English teachers or by the number of mathematics credits completed by prospective secondary mathematics teachers. These data are presented in Table II.

Attention should be given to the data relative to the number of college mathematics credits attained by the prospective teachers in each category, particularly the prospective elementary and secondary mathematics teachers. On the basis of 22 quarter hours in collegelevel mathematics required for minimum certification endorsement to teach mathematics at the secondary level, as specified by Central Washington State College, 38 of the 57 prospective secondary

	····		Groups					······································
Criteria		PSM	PEM	PSS	PAI	PE	PS	All Groups
High School Mathematics	Range	4-9	1-9	1-9	<b>2</b> -9	1-9	0 - 9	0 - 9
Preparation*	Mean	7.8	5.8	6.4	5.3	5.5	6. <b>2</b>	6. 2
College Mathematics	Range	0 - 5 7	0-21	0-20	0-41	0 - 10	0-26	0-57
Preparation**	Mean	<b>2</b> 9. 9	4.6	2.9	6.1	0.9	7.7	9.1
College	Range	121-228	113-303	113-124	115-228	115-207	126-217	113-303
Credits**	Mean	136.9	146.4	126.2	132.2	129.0	148.4	137.7
Grade Point Average	Maximur Minimun Mean	n 3.95 n 1.77 <b>2.</b> 55	3.74 1.61 2.56	3.71 1.96 2.58	3.74 1.91 2.44	3.78 1.98 2.60	3.29 1.87 2.53	3.95 1.61 2.53

Table II. Mrathematics Preparation, College Credits, and Grade-Point-Averages of Prospective Teachers.

\* These data are in terms of semester credits.

\*\* These data are in terms of quarter hours.

mathematics teachers had achieved, or exceeded, this number. On the basis of 12 quarter hours in college level mathematics, as recommended by the Mathematical Association of America as minimum preparation for elementary school teachers (13, p. 11), it was found that only seven of the 75 prospective elementary mathematics teachers had achieved, or exceeded, this amount. In fact, it was found that 34 of the prospective elementary mathematics teachers had completed no mathematics at the college level.

# Credits and Grade-Point-Averages Attained by Prospective Teachers

The number of college credits and the college grade-pointaverages attained at the time of the testing were also compiled. The range of college credits for all prospective teachers was from 113 quarter hours to 303 quarter hours with an average of 137.7 quarter hours. The average college grade-point-average was 2.55 with a range from 1.61 to 3.95. These data are summarized in Table II for all groups involved in the study.

## Major and Minor Academic Fields of Prospective Teachers

A compilation was made of the areas of concentrated study of the prospective teachers, particularly those who indicated mathematics as a major or a minor area of emphasis. These data are presented in Table III.

				Grou	ıps			
Academic Area		PSM	PEM	PSS	PAI	PE	PS	Totals
Mathematics	Major	45	<b>2</b>	0	<b>2</b>	0	0	49
	Minor	13	5	4	4	0	9	35
English	Major	2	0	0	1	37	0	40
	Minor	1	7	6	3	8	1	26
Biology	Major	1	1	0	0	0	20	<b>2</b> 2
	Minor	1	0	0	0	0	8	9
Social Science	Major	1	5	44	0	9	0	59
	Minor	6	11	4	5	12	2	40
Art/Ind. Arts.	Major	1	0	0	31	0	0	32
	Minor	1	3	1	6	3	2	16
General Science	Major Minor	4 6	0 4	0	0 3	0 0	28 2	32 15
Chemistry	Major	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Minor	5	1	2	1	0	10	19
Physics	Major	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Minor	6	1	0	0	0	2	9
Psychology/	Major	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Philosophy	Minor	2	3	7	3	6	2	23
Home	Major	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Economics	Minor	0	<b>2</b>	1	2	0	1	6
Professional	Major	3	7	1	7	0	1	19
Subjects	Minor	3	67	17	3	4	3	97
Other Areas	Major	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Minor	13	22	3	11	13	7	69

Table III. Major and Minor Areas of Emphasis of Prospective Teachers.

It was noted that two prospective elementary mathematics teachers indicated mathematics as a major field, while five indicated mathematics as a minor field of study.

## Status of Freshman Mathematics Students

One hundred fifty-seven freshman mathematics students were tested in this study at the beginning of their first quarter of residence at Central Washington State College. The average age of these students was 18.4 years with a range from 17 years to 26 years. None of these students was asked to make a commitment as to his future plans, i. e., whether to enter the teaching profession, or to declare major and minor areas of study.

There were 38 female students and 119 male students included in this group.

# Mathematics Preparation of Freshman Mathematics Students

The average number of semester credits completed in mathematics at the high school level was found to be 4. 4 with a range from two credits to ten credits. This average was affected by the fact that a minimum of one year of high school mathematics was required for high school graduation in the State of Washington.

## Grade-Point-Averages Attained by Freshman Mathematics Students

The grade-point-averages of the freshman mathematics students were obtained from their eighth-semester high school grade reports. The average grade-point-average for the 157 students was 2.67 with a range from 1.74 to 3.87 on a four point scale.

### Status of Experienced Teachers

Fifty-five of the 60 experienced elementary and secondary mathematics teachers who participated in the study had completed a backelor's degree. Three teachers had obtained a master's degree in education. Five teachers did not have a bachelor's degree but completed the requirements for the degree at the end of the 1965 summer session.

Twenty-five teachers were teaching at the secondary level, while 35 were teaching at the elementary level. The average number of years of teaching experience for the entire group of experienced teachers was 5.7 years with a range from one year to 26 years. The average number of years of teaching experience for the group of secondary mathematics teachers was 5.0 years with a range from one year to 23 years, and the average number of years of teaching experience for the elementary teachers was 6.2 years with a range from one year to 26 years. These data are presented in Table IV.

		Grou	ıps*	
Criteria		EEM	ESM	Total
Number of Participan	ts	35	25	60
Sex	Male	12	19	31
	Female	23	6	29
Age	Range	23-53	22-51	22-53
0	Mean	34.7	30.9	33.1
Degree	None	5	0	5
Status	В. А.	30	22	52
	M. A.	0	3	3
Level of Teaching	Elementary	35	0	35
0	Secondary	0	25	25
Years of Teaching	Maximum	26	23	<b>2</b> 6
Experience	Minimum	1	1	1
F	Mean	6. <b>2</b>	5.0	5.7

Table IV. Summary of Personal Information of Experienced Teachers.

\* EEM-Experienced elementary mathematics teachers.

ESM-Experienced secondary mathematics teachers.

The average age of the group of experienced teachers was 33.1 years with a range from 22 years to 53 years. Included in this group were 31 male teachers and 29 female teachers. Twelve of the 35 elementary teachers were male, and 19 of the 25 secondary teachers were male. These data are also presented in Table IV.

## Mathematics Preparation of Experienced Teachers

A summary was made of the number of credits in mathematics completed by the experienced teachers involved in the study. The average number of semester hours of mathematics completed at the high school level was 5.3, while the average number of quarter hours of mathematics completed at the college level was 21.2.

These averages had little meaning, as bias existed due to the lack of mathematics preparation of the elementary teachers, for example. The averages for the individual groups of experienced teachers had more meaning, however. For high school mathematics, in semester hours, and for college mathematics, in quarter hours, the averages were, respectively, 4.4 hours and 4.4 hours for experienced elementary teachers, and 6.5 hours and 44.8 hours for the experienced secondary teachers. Fifteen of the 35 experienced elementary teachers had completed no mathematics at the college level. These data are summarized in Table V.

		G	roups	
Criteria		EEM	ESM	Total
High School Mathematics	Range	1-8	<b>2</b> -10	1-10
Preparation*	Mean	4.4	6.5	5.3
College Mathematics	Range	0-25	3-103	0-103
Preparation**	Mean	4.4	44.8	21.2
College Credits**	Range	0-177	3-169	0-169
	Mean	97.5	103.7	100.1
Grade	Maximum	4.00	4.00	4.00
Point	Minimum	1.61	2.00	1.61
Average	Mean	2.85	3.07	2.94

Table V. Mathematics Preparation, College Credits, and Grade-Point-Averages of Experienced Teachers.

\* These data are in terms of semester credits.

\*\* These data are in terms of quarter hours.

## Credits and Grade-Point-Averages Attained by Experienced Teachers

The number of college credits and the college grade-point-averages attained by the experienced teachers was compiled. The range of graduate college credits for all experienced teachers was from three quarter hours to 169 quarter hours with an average of 21. 2 quarter hours. The average college grade-point-average was 2.94 with a range from 1.61 to 4.00. These data are summarized in Table V.

## Major and Minor Academic Fields of Experienced Teachers

A summary of the areas of concentrated study of the experienced teachers are presented in Table VI. It was interesting to note that one elementary teacher listed mathematics as a major, that only two elementary teachers listed mathematics as a minor, and that two of the secondary mathematics teachers did not list mathematics as either a major or minor field of study. The latter two individuals had 20 hours of mathematics credit between them, one having completed 17 hours and the other having completed three hours.

#### Summary

This chapter has summarized some of the personal data and background and experience of the participants of the study. These

	······································	Gr	Groups	
Academic Area		EEM	ESM	Total
Mathematics	Major	1	18	19
	Minor	2	5	7
English	Major	4	0	4
	Minor	4	1	5
Biology	Major	1	1	2
	Minor	0	3	3
Social Science	Major	5	1	6
	Minor	4	3	7
Art/Ind. Arts	Major	1	3	4
	Minor	0	0	0
General Science	Major	0	2	2
	Minor	1	4	5
Chemistry	Major	0	0	0
	Minor	0	3	3
Physics	Major	0	0	0
	Minor	0	2	2
Psychology/	Major	0	0	0
Philosophy	Minor	1	0	1
Home Economics	Major	0	0	0
	Minor	2	0	2
Professional Subjects	Major	23	0	23
	Minor	16	0	16
Other Areas	Major	0	0	0
	Minor	5	4	9

Table VI. Major and Minor Areas of Emphasis of Experienced Teachers.

data will be utilized in Chapter V relative to their effect on spatial visualization abilities.

The ages of the experienced teachers were greater than those of the prospective teachers, as would be expected, and the ranges of ages differed considerably.

The mathematics preparation of the various groups of individuals varied a great deal, although grade-point-averages were compatible. Nineteen prospective teachers already had received a bachelor's degree and were completing requirements for a teaching credential, while there were five experienced teachers, with a total of 51 years of teaching experience who were completing the requirements for a bachelor's degree.

It was noted that 34 of the 75 prospective elementary mathematics teachers and 15 of the 35 experienced elementary teachers in the study had completed no college mathematics courses.

The findings from this compilation and summary of personal data, training, and teaching experiences of the participants in the study provided a basis for recommendations offered later.

### CHAPTER V

## TREATMENT, ANALYSIS, AND INTERPRETATION OF FINDINGS

### Treatment of Data

Data for this study were obtained from various groups of prospective teachers, freshman mathematics students, and experienced teachers enrolled at Central Washington State College. Stratification of the samples used in this study was made on the bases of area of teacher preparation and level of college progress. Minimum sample sizes were determined in discussion with the Statistics Department at Oregon State University, and, in each sample selected, this minimum was attained or exceeded.

Each of the groups of prospective teachers, experienced teachers, and freshman mathematics students was given the Differential Aptitude Space Relations Test (DATSR), the Revised Minnesota Paper Form Board Test (MPFB), and the mathematics test of the Sequential Tests of Educational Progress (STEPM), in that order, with the DATSR and MPFB tests given during the same class period, and the STEPM test given during a subsequent class period. This method of administration of the testing instruments was followed each quarter.

As it was felt that spatial visualization ability of the participants in the study could have been related in some manner to both academic ability and scholastic achievement, analysis of covariance procedures were indicated and, hence, were used in analyzing the data obtained and testing the previously-stated hypotheses.

Since scholastic aptitude and academic ability could conceivably influence each individual's response to the criterion measuring instruments, these individual differences were controlled by utilizing the combined scores on the Washington Pre-College Verbal and Quantitative tests as a measure of scholastic aptitude and the college gradepoint-averages (eighth-semester high school grade-point-averages in the case of the freshman mathematics students) as a measure of academic ability for each individual in the samples. As a result, possible bias introduced by individual differences was removed insofar as these factors represented the differences in question. This does not preclude the possibility of other factors affecting each individual's response to the criteria being used. Analysis of covariance techniques have been discussed in the literature (70, pp. 343-62).

To test the null hypotheses relative to differences in spatial visualization abilities of various groups of individuals involved in the study, single classification analysis of covariance procedures were used where two groups of individuals were of concern. Single classification analysis of covariance procedures were also used to test for a significant difference in spatial visualization abilities among all groups involved in the study.
Pearson product-moment correlations were also computed for the data for each group of individuals in order to test the null hypotheses relative to the relationship between spatial visualization ability and mathematics achievement and spatial visualization ability and intelligence. Other correlations were also calculated as part of the development and were reported.

The Pearson product-moment correlations provided the basis for significant validity indices and relative validity indices between the different measures and criteria treated.

The reliability coefficient, using the Kuder-Richardson formula defined and discussed in Chapter II, was computed for each of the testing instruments used in this study.

# Considerations in the Analysis of Data

The following were major aspects anticipated in analyzing the findings of this study.

 Levels of significance for the "r" validity indices between criteria were calculated on the basis of the t-test, for the 0.05 and 0.01 levels of significance. Using the formula suggested by Guilford (24, p. 219),

$$t = r \sqrt{\frac{N-2}{1-r^2}}$$

the investigator computed the lower limits for "r", which

would indicate significance levels of 0.05 and 0.01 for the various N involved in the study.

- 2. The reliability indices obtained and other validity indices below the 0.05 level of significance, will be discussed and compared on a purely relative basis.
- 3. Results significant at the 0.05 and 0.01 levels of confidence in the analysis of covariance computations will be indicated as they are reported.

#### DATSR, MPFB, and STEPM Results

The data collected with regard to two spatial visualization tests and the mathematics achievement test given to each participant in the study are presented in Tables VII and VIII. These data indicate a considerable range in attained scores in each group of participants. Table VII indicates that the prospective secondary mathematics teacher group attained the highest average score on the DATSR and STEPM tests and had the second highest average on the MPFB test, followed by the prospective science teachers group or the prospective art/ industrial arts teacher group.

Table VIII shows that the freshman mathematics group attained a higher average score on the DATSR than either of the experienced teachers groups and attained an average score on the MPFB test just slightly lower than the experienced secondary mathematics teachers

				Grou	ps*		<u> </u>	
<u>Criteria</u>	a	PSM	PEM	PSS	PAI	PE	PS	All Groups
Sample Si	ze	57	75	45	41	46	49	313
DATSR	Maximum	95	80	77	95	72	96	96
	Minimum	12	5	14	13	12	5	. 5
	Mean	59.18	47.04	44.73	5 <b>2.</b> 34	45.41	55.47	50.69
	STDEV**	15.79	14.75	14.40	17.27	13.29	19.69	16.69
MPFB	Maximum	57	57	57	60	53	62	62
	Minimum	20	18	9	23	21	1	1
	Mean	43.70	40.84	39.53	43.63	39.22	43.84	41.77
	STDEV**	7. 23	8.27	9.21	8.20	6.65	10.24	8.51
STEPM	Maximum	316	307	312	312	305	315	316
	Minimum	270	230	262	232	252	232	230
	Mean	301.38	284.39	288.84	<b>2</b> 89.46	287.07	284. 31	289.17
	STDEV**	9.54	14.71	12.61	16.87	11.66	20.18	15.69

Table VII.Maximums, Minimums, Means, and Standard Deviations of Spatial Visualizationand Mathematics Achievement Scores of Prospective Teachers.

\* PSM-Prospective Secondary Mathematics Teachers.

PEM-Prospective Elementary Mathematics Teachers.

**PSS-Prospective Social Science Teachers.** 

PAI-Prospective Art/Industrial Arts Teachers.

PE-Prospective English Teachers.

**PS-Prospective Science Teachers.** 

\*\*Standard Deviation.

Table VIII.	Maximums,	Minimums,	Means,	and Sta	ndard	Deviations	of Spatia	l Visual	ization
	and Mathema	atics Achiev	ement So	cores of	[ Fresh	iman Math	ematics S	Students	and
	Experienced	Teachers.							

Manne and Chandrad Deviations of Castial Wisseli stice

			(	Groups*	
Criteria		FM	EEM	ESM	EEM and ESM
Sample Size		157	35	25	60
DATSR	Maximum	96	70	84	84
	Minimum	20	5	27	5
	Mean	59,89	41.17	58.60	48.43
	STDEV**	15.69	15.42	14.25	17.17
MPFB	Maximum	61	57	58	58
	Minimum	28	10	33	10
	Mean	44.28	38.86	46.76	42.15
	STDEV**	7.00	8.82	7.06	8.97
STEPM	Maximum	312	302	315	315
	Minimum	230	265	274	265
	Mean	286.74	282.17	300.08	289.63
	STDEV**	17.17	12.56	9.36	14.35

\* FM-First-Quarter Freshman Mathematics Students. EEM-Experienced Elementary Mathematics Teachers. ESM-Experienced Secondary Mathematics Teachers.

\*\*Standard Deviation.

group. The latter group achieved an average STEPM score somewhat higher than either the freshman mathematics group or the experienced elementary teachers group.

Comparison of Tables VII and VIII indicates that the prospective secondary mathematics teachers group, the freshman mathematics students group, and the experienced secondary mathematics teachers group attained approximately equivalent average scores on the DATSR, while the latter group had a higher average MPFB score than the other two mentioned groups, which were almost the same on this test. Both the experienced and prospective secondary mathematics teachers groups achieved a higher average STEPM score.

No DATSR or MPFB morms were available for comparing the scores of the various groups at the college level, but norms for college students were available for comparing STEPM scores (18, p. 23). The average STEPM results in Table VII for prospective teachers and in Table VIII for freshman mathematics students compared with these norms indicated that the mean STEPM score for each group exceeded the mean score given by the publishers of the test. Data from 202 freshman students from 99 colleges were furnished by the publishers, as were data from 200 sophomore students from 97 colleges. Because of the limited number of students involved from each college, these comparisons may not have too much value.

# Analysis of Covariance Results

Analysis of covariance with a single classification was made first with all groups included in the computations; then with all prospective and experienced teachers groups; and then with only the prospective teacher groups included in the computations. WPCVM scores were utilized to control scholastic aptitude and cumulative gradepoint-averages were utilized to control academic ability in each case. The first three rows of Table IX present these results for each of the criteria involved. These data indicate, to the degree that scholastic aptitude is controlled by the WPCVM, and to the degree that gradepoint-average is a measure of control of academic ability, and to the degree that all other pertinent factors related to spatial visualization ability and mathematics achievement have not introduced a bias in this study, there is little doubt that the spatial visualization abilities of the groups of individuals involved in the study are different. This is, also, true relative to the mathematics achievement of these groups. Presumably these differences can be attributed to the type of educational training and/or experience the various groups have encountered. Insufficient evidence has been found from these data to indicate that the difference between various combinations of two or more means is significant.

As a consequence of these data, analysis of covariance was computed based on mean scores for pairs of various groups involved in the study. Table IX contains analysis of covariance results for several groups of individuals, other than the original grouping which was established for the testing procedures. These results indicate that, subject to the control factors, female prospective teachers and male prospective teachers differ significantly in their spatial visualization abilities and their mathematics achievement. There were 175 males and 138 females in these two groups. Similar results are indicated for the two experienced teachers groups, ESM and EEM.

Prospective secondary teachers and experienced secondary teachers were found to differ significantly at the 0.05 level in mathematics achievement, but did not differ significantly in spatial visualization abilities, while prospective elementary teachers and experienced elementary teachers were found to differ significantly only in spatial visualization ability, as measured by DATSR. This difference in mathematics achievement between the secondary teachers might be due to the little mathematics background of the prospective English and social science teachers included in this group of prospective secondary teachers. The significant difference in spatial visualization ability of the elementary teachers is not so easily explained.

A significant difference in spatial visualization abilities and mathematics achievement is also indicated in Table IX between the prospective elementary teachers and the prospective secondary teachers. These results follow the trend indicated in Table IX

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	F-Ratios					
Comparison Groups	DATSR	MPFB	STEPM			
All Groups Involved in the Study@	10.8887**	5.0785**	9. 3418**			
All Prospective Teachers (PSM, PEM, PSS, PAI, PE, PS)	6. 3341**	3.7704**	9. 6550**			
All Prospective and Experienced Teachers (PSM, PEM, PSS, PAI, PE, PS, EEM, ESM)@	8.5921**	4.5371**	11.3405**			
Prospective Elementary Teachers and Prospective Secondary Teachers	9.0710**	4.3417*	6. 701 <b>2</b> *			
Prospective Elementary Teachers and Experienced Elementary Teachers@	5.8789*	2.9324	3.1701			
Prospective Secondary Teachers and Experienced Secondary Teachers@	1.2729	<b>2</b> .0769	4. 6844*			
Experienced Elementary Mathematics Teachers (EEM) and Experienced Secondar Mathematics Teachers (ESM)@	y 16.4967**	11.4450**	32.0680**			
Female Prospective Teachers and Male Prospective Teachers@	16.5075**	4.8180*	21.2061**			

Table IX.Analysis of Covariance of Spatial Visualization and Mathematics Achievement Scores<br/>of Various Groups of Individuals Involved in the Study.

\*\* Significant at 0.01 level of significance.

@ These values were computed with one control variable, while all others were computed with two control variables.

comparing these same criteria for experienced elementary and experienced secondary teachers.

Combining the results on the DATSR, MPFB, and STEPM tests for the prospective elementary mathematics teachers and the prospective secondary mathematics teachers and computing analysis of covariance for this combined group and each of the remaining groups involved in the study resulted in the data reported in Table X. These data indicate that significant differences in spatial visualization abilities exist between prospective elementary and secondary mathematics teachers and the groups of prospective social science teachers, prospective English teachers, freshman mathematics students, and experienced elementary mathematics teachers, as measured by either DATSR or MPFB.

Mathematics achievement did not differ significantly between this group of elementary and secondary mathematics teachers and the prospective social science teachers or the group of prospective art/ industrial arts teachers, but a significant difference was indicated in all other instances.

Table X also shows that the combined group of prospective elementary and secondary mathematics teachers differ significantly in spatial visualization ability, as measured by DATSR, when compared with the group of all experienced teachers involved in the study. No significant difference was indicated in spatial visualization ability,

		F-Ratios	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Comparison Groups	DATSR	MPFB	STEPM
Prospective Social Science Teachers (PSS)	9. <b>2</b> 724**	4.2176*	1.5038
Prospective Art/Industrial Arts			
Teachers (PAI)	0.0784	<b>2</b> . 4913	0.453 <b>2</b>
Prospective English Teachers (PE)	9.5158**	7.0156**	4.6021*
Prospective Science Teachers (PS)	1.2768	1.8149	7. 3355**
Freshman Mathematics Students (FM)	11.8449**	3.2180	8. 5484**
Experienced Elementary Mathematics Teachers (EEM) @	17. 7 <b>2</b> 15**	9.2935**	12.686 <b>2</b> **
Experienced Secondary Mathematics Teachers (ESM) @	1.5706	0.9758	4.8195*
All Experienced Teachers (EEM, ESM) @	5.7601*	2.2850	<b>2</b> . 1034

Table X.Analysis of Covariance of Spatial Visualization and Mathematics Achievement Scoresof All Prospective Mathematics Teachers.

\* Significant at 0.05 level of significance.

\*\* Significant at 0.01 level of significance.

@ These values were computed using one control variable, while all other values were computed using two control variables.

as measured by MPFB, or in mathematics achievement between these two groups.

In order to investigate the differences in spatial visualization abilities and mathematics achievement between groups involved in the study, analysis of covariance was made comparing the mean scores on the DATSR, MPFB, and STEPM tests for prospective elementary teachers with those mean scores of the other groups involved in the study. WPCVM and cumulative grade-point-averages were used as control variables in all cases, except those involving the experienced teachers groups whose WPCVM scores were not available. These data are reported in Table XI.

These data indicate that prospective elementary mathematics teachers differ significantly in spatial visualization abilities when compared with prospective secondary mathematics teachers, prospective science teachers, freshman mathematics students, and both groups of experienced mathematics teachers involved in the study as measured by DATSR. They differ significantly in this ability from the prospective secondary mathematics teachers, the freshman mathematics students, and the group of experienced elementary mathematics teachers, as measured by the MPFB test. It was also found that prospective elementary mathematics teachers differ significantly in mathematics achievement, as measured by STEPM, with only the two groups of secondary mathematics teachers.

	<b>F</b> -Ratios					
Comparison Groups	DATSR	MPFB	STEPM			
Prospective Secondary Mathematics						
Teachers (PSM)	10.2372**	3.9574*	47.1983**			
Prospective Social Science Teachers (PSS)	1.6134	1.4453	<b>2.</b> 4166			
Prospective Art/Industrial Arts						
Teachers (PAI)	2.5617	3.8558	3.2796			
Prospective English Teachers (PE)	1.1348	2.2907	1.0923			
Prospective Science Teachers (PS)	5. <b>20</b> 44*	2.6138	0.0039			
Freshman Mathematics Students (FM)	<b>24.</b> 9 <b>2</b> 41**	6.1705*	0.7557			
Experienced Elementary Mathematics Teachers (EEM)@	6.8997*	3.8889*	1. <b>2</b> 368			
Experienced Secondary Mathematics Teachers (ESM)@	7.6805**	2.0893	16.9084**			

Table XI.Analysis of Covariance of Spatial Visualization and Mathematics Achievement Scoresof Prospective Elementary Mathematics Teachers.

\* Significant at 0.05 level of significance.

\*\* Significant at 0.01 level of significance.

@ These values were computed using one control variable, while all other values were computed using two control variables.

Data for analysis of covariance for the mean scores on DATSR, MPFB, and STEPM tests for prospective secondary mathematics teachers and other groups involved in the study are presented in Table XII. These data indicate that the prospective secondary mathematics teachers differed significantly in spatial visualization abilities, when compared with the prospective elementary mathematics teachers, the prospective social science teachers, the prospective English teachers, and the group of experienced elementary teachers, as measured by both DATSR and MPFB. Thus, prospective secondary mathematics teachers differed significantly in spatial visualization ability with four of the eight comparison groups.

Table XII also indicates a highly significant difference in mathematics achievement between prospective secondary mathematics teachers and each of the other groups involved in the study, with the exception of the group of experienced secondary mathematics teachers, where no significant difference was apparent as based on STEPM results.

#### **Coefficients of Correlation**

Using the formula suggested by Guilford (24, p. 219) the investigator computed the minimum values of "r", which would indicate significance levels of 0.05 and 0.01 for the various sample sizes involved in the study. These computed "r" values are indicated in

	F-Ratios						
Comparison Groups	DATSR	MPFB	STEPM				
Prospective Elementary Mathematics	10 222244	2 05 74%	47 1002**				
leachers (PEM)	10.2572**	5.9574*	47.1983**				
Prospective Social Science Teachers (PSS)	17.7608**	5.7880*	26.8563**				
Prospective Art/Industrial Arts							
Teachers (PAI)	1.2714	0.1654	15.0826**				
Prospective English Teachers (PE)	20.2226**	10.9475**	45.4982**				
Prospective Science Teachers (PS)	0.1430	0.2429	27.4340**				
Freshman Mathematics Students (FM)	0.3703	0.1860	35.4098**				
Experienced Elementary Mathematics Teachers (EEM)@	37. 7939**	11.9349**	69. 7973**				
Experienced Secondary Mathematics Teachers (ESM)@	0.2850	0.0898	0.6315				

Table XII.Analysis of Covariance of Spatial Visualization and Mathematics Achievement Scoresof Prospective Secondary Mathematics Teachers.

\* Significant at 0.05 level of significance.

**\*\*** Significant at 0.01 level of significance.

@ These values were computed using one control variable, while all other values were computed using two control variables.

Table XIII.

Results of computations of Pearson product-moment coefficients of correlation between scores on the DATSR, MPFB, and STEPM tests and data from WPCVM and mathematics preparation are presented in Tables XIV and XV. WPCVM data were not available for the groups of experienced teachers, as the WPC tests were not administered on a state-wide basis to students until January 1960, after most of these individuals had finished high school.

The spatial visualization tests, DATSR and MPFB, did not correlate very highly with WPCVM for any of the groups, with the range from .00 to .39. DATSR and MPFB correlations with mathematics preparation varied considerably among each group but were quite low, .15 to .11, for the entire group of 530 participants in the study. The coefficients of correlation between the DATSR and MPFB results ranged from .40 to .80 for the various groups, with a coefficient of .57 for the entire group.

STEPM, as indicated in Table XV, did not correlate well with WPCVM in any of the groups, with the largest coefficient, .21, indicated for the group of prospective social science teachers. STEPM correlated significantly with the mathematics preparation of the PEM, PSS, PAI, and PS groups but quite low in all the other groups. The STEPM-Mathematics Background coefficient of correlation for the entire group was .35. This coefficient of correlation for the group

····	Minii	mum
	Significant	Values of R
N	0.05 Level	0.01 Level
25	0.396	0.505
35	0.334	0.430
41	0.308	0.398
45	0. <b>2</b> 94	0.380
46	0.291	0.376
49	0.281	0.364
57	0.260	0.339
75	0.227	0.296
157	0.155	0.205

Table XIII.	Computed Minimum	Significance	Levels	of
	Correlations. *			

\*See Guilford (24, p. 219)

Groups										A11
Criteria	PSM	PEM	PSS	PAI	PE	PS	FM	EEM	ESM	Groups
WPCVM- DATSR	. 39**	. 21	. 21	. 24	.09	. 20	. 10.	@	@	. 21**
WPCVM- MPFB	. 26*	. 25*	. 10	. 00	10	. 18	.06	@	@	. 09*
Mth Prep- DATSR	13	. 20	.41**	. 39*	12	. 40**	. 05	. 21	. 00	. 15**
Mth Prep- MPFB	- <b>. 2</b> 8**	. 12	.36*	. 13	. 10	. 25	. 07	. 22	.09	.11**
DATSR- MPFB	. 51**	.61**	. 71**	. 43**	, 5 <b>2</b> **	.51**	. 40 **	. 70**	. 80**	. 57**
DATSR- STEPM	34**	<b>2</b> 9*	55**	63**	61**	39**	68**	70**	69**	18**
MPFB- STEPM	18	25*	47**	32*	31*	<b>2</b> 9*	31**	59**	52**	06

Table XIV.	Coefficients of Correlation between Spatial	Visualization Scores and Other Criteria
	for Groups Involved in Study.	

@ These data were not available.

111

\* Significant at 0.05 level of significance.

\*\* Significant at 0.01 level of significance.

	Groups									
Criteria	PSM	PEM	PSS	PAI	PE	PS.	FM	EEM	ESM	All Groups
WPCVM- STEPM	. 20	03	. 21	. 11 .	.04	. 11	.05	@	.@	.04
Mth Prep- STEPM	. 00	. 31**	. 53**	. 39*.	.18	. 46**	.06	.16	. 17	. 35**
DATSR- STEPM	34**	< 29*	55**	63**	61*	* 39**	68**	70**	69**	18**
MPFB- STEPM	18	25*	47**	32*	31*	29*	31**	59**	52**	06

Table XV.	Coefficients of Correlation Between Mathematics Achievement Scores and Other
	Criteria for Groups Involved in Study.

<sup>@</sup>These data were not available.

\*Significant at 0.05 level of significance. \*\*Significant at 0.01 level of significance.

of prospective secondary mathematics teachers was found to be .001, while for the experienced secondary mathematics teachers, this coefficient of correlation was found to be only .17.

STEPM coefficients of correlation with the spatial visualization tests, DATSR and MPFB, ranged from a negative . 18 (STEPM-MPFB for the PSM group) to a negative . 70 (STEPM-DATSR for the EEM group). For the entire group of participants the STEPM-DATSR coefficient of correlation was negative . 18 and the STEPM-MPFB coefficient of correlation was negative .06.

#### Coefficients of Reliability

Reliability coefficients were computed for each test, separately for each group of individuals involved in the study. These coefficients are presented in Table XVI. This table indicates that the goal of adequate test reliability has, in general, been achieved for each group involved in the study.

The DATSR test had higher coefficients of reliability for every group than either the MPFB or the STEPM tests. The STEPM coefficients of reliability compared favorably with the coefficients of reliability reported by North (48, pp. 47-56). He reported Spearman-Brown reliability coefficients from . 42 to . 87 for STEPM given to college freshman and sophomores.

It may be noted that the relative order of reliability for the tests,

Groups										
Criteria	PSM	PEM	PSS	PAI	PE	PS	FM	EEM	ESM	All Groups
DATSR	.91	. 89	. 89	. 93	. 87	. 95	.91	. 91	. 89	. 92
MPFB	. 75	. 80	. 83	. 81	. 76	.88	. 73	. 82	. 76	. 80
STEPM	. 78	.86	. 81	. 90	. 77	. 92	. 89	. 78	. 76	. 99

Table XVI.	Coefficients of Reliability for Spatial Visualization and Mathematics
	Achievement Tests for Groups Involved in Study. $st$

\*Computed by Kuder-Richardson Formula.

as applied to all the groups with the exception of PSS and EEM, was the same, namely, DATSR, STEPM, MPFB. For the PSS and EEM groups the relative order was DATSR, MPFB, STEPM. All coefficients of reliability were greater than, or equal to, .73.

#### Summary

Data have been tabulated and reported in this chapter relative to ranges, means, and standard deviations of scores attained by each group of individuals on the DATSR, MPFB, and STEPM tests. Analysis of covariance results were presented relative to all groups, several specialized groups, and the groups of prospective elementary mathematics teachers and the prospective secondary mathematics teachers when compared, with controls for academic ability and scholastic aptitude, with each of the other groups of individuals involved in the study. Significant results were duly noted and discussed.

Coefficients of correlation between scores attained on DATSR, MPFB, and STEPM tests, WPCVM data, and mathematics preparation information were tabulated and discussed. The DATSR, MPFB, and STEPM test data appeared to correlate quite well among themselves, but did not correlate well with other criteria, except in isolated instances.

Coefficients of reliability for each of the DATSR, MPFB, and STEPM tests were presented for each group of individuals. These coefficients were all greater than . 70, which would indicate a fairly good degree of reliability.

#### CHAPTER VI

# SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Expressed in terms of the original null hypotheses formulated in Chapter II, a summary of this study is:

1. Prospective secondary mathematics teachers at Central Washington State College have a significantly different degree of development of spatial visualization abilities than do prospective elementary mathematics teachers at the same institution. It would appear, based on the means of the collected data, that the former group has a higher degree of development of these abilities. Consequently, null hypothesis one is rejected.

2. The spatial visualization abilities of prospective elementary mathematics teachers at Central Washington State College are significantly different from the spatial visualization abilities of experienced elementary mathematics teachers. As a consequence, null hypothesis two is rejected.

3. The spatial visualization abilities of prospective elementary mathematics teachers at Central Washington State College and experienced secondary mathematics teachers are significantly different. Therefore, null hypothesis three is rejected. 4. Spatial visualization abilities of prospective secondary mathematics teachers at Central Washington State College and experienced elementary mathematics teachers are significantly different. Consequently, null hypothesis four is rejected.

5. The spatial visualization abilities of prospective secondary mathematics teachers at Central Washington State College and experienced secondary mathematics teachers are not significantly different. Therefore, null hypothesis five is accepted.

6. The spatial visualization abilities of prospective elementary mathematics teachers at Central Washington State College are not significantly different from similar abilities of prospective teachers in other academic fields of endeavor at Central Washington State College, except in the field of science. Hence, null hypothesis six is accepted.

7. Prospective secondary mathematics teachers' spatial visualization abilities are significantly different from the spatial visualization abilities of both prospective teachers of social sciences and prospective teachers of English at Central Washington State College, but are not significantly different from the spatial visualization abilities of prospective teachers of science, or prospective teachers of art/ industrial arts. Therefore, null hypothesis seven is accepted.

8. The spatial visualization abilities of first-quarter freshman mathematics students at Central Washington State College are

significantly different from similar abilities of prospective elementary mathematics teachers at the same institution, but these same abilities of freshman mathematics students are not significantly different from those of prospective secondary mathematics teachers at Central Washington State College. On this basis, null hypothesis eight is accepted.

9. There is a significant relationship between achievement in mathematics and spatial visualization abilities of prospective teachers in several academic fields, freshman mathematics students, and experienced elementary and secondary mathematics teachers. It would appear, based on correlation data, that mathematics achievement can be used, at significant levels of confidence, as a valid index of spatial visualization ability. As a result, null hypothesis nine is rejected.

10. There is no significant relationship between scholastic ability and spatial visualization abilities of prospective teachers in several academic fields and freshman mathematics students at Central Washington State College. Therefore, null hypothesis ten is accepted at significant levels of confidence.

#### Conclusions

This study has indicated, to the degree that the limitations, assumptions, and control factors of the study have been accepted and

used, that there is little doubt that Central Washington State College prospective elementary and secondary school teachers with mathematics preparation have developed a higher degree of spatial visualization ability than those prospective elementary and secondary school teachers who have had little or no mathematics preparation. No significant difference in spatial visualization abilities was indicated between groups of prospective teachers in fields where several courses in mathematics were required, or strongly recommended, such as science or art/industrial arts, and the groups of prospective elementary and secondary mathematics teachers.

It has also been shown that, at Central Washington State College, students preparing to teach mathematics at the secondary level, and, hence, following the prescribed mathematics curriculum for certification and graduation in the field of education, have developed, in addition to a greater degree of mathematics achievement, a higher degree of spatial visualization ability than have the prospective elementary mathematics teachers at the same institution of higher learning.

The results of this study have also indicated that there is, in general, no relationship between scholastic aptitude and spatial visualization ability, at least for the individuals involved in the study at Central Washington State College. This seemed to verify what Super (62, p. 283-4), Thorndike (63, p. 20), and Thurstone (66, p. 576) found relative to the relationship between scholastic aptitude and spatial visualization ability.

There appears to be a difference in the degree of spatial visualization abilities of the prospective elementary school teachers and the experienced elementary school teachers. This might be attributed to the fact that there have been the four elective mathematics courses available for the former group of individuals at Central Washington State College, while there were no such specific mathematics courses available when the experienced teachers were undergraduates.

# Implications

With respect to the prescribed mathematics curricula for prospective elementary and/or secondary mathematics teachers at Central Washington State College, the following may be considered:

1. In order to develop spatial visualization abilities, mathematics content courses for the elementary school teacher should be required in the elementary curriculum for teacher certification.

2. The prescribed mathematics curriculum for prospective secondary school mathematics teachers appears to develop the spatial visualization ability, and any changes in said curriculum should be considered in this light.

# Recommendations for Further Study

Investigations suggested by this study include:

1. Consideration of a similar study with prospective teachers from all colleges and universities in the State of Washington.

2. A follow-up study relative to spatial visualization abilities of the prospective elementary and secondary mathematics teachers involved in the present study after several years of teaching experience to investigate gain or loss in this ability.

3. Consideration of a similar study with various prospective and experienced teacher groups in future years at Central Washington State College to add further information to the present study. It is also suggested that, if this same study were to be repeated, that better spatial visualization tests might be available, or devised, and that other control factors might be considered in the analysis of covariance computations.

4. A yearly follow-up study of the spatial visualization abilities of the individuals, who were included in the freshman mathematics students' group in the present study, in order to relate their gain or loss in spatial visualization ability to their mathematics and/or college preparation, maturation, and other factors which might affect development of this ability.

5. A further study relative to the relationship between spatial visualization ability and scholastic aptitude among students enrolled at Central Washington State College.

6. A study designed to measure the ability of prospective and experienced teachers of mathematics to draw three-dimensional objects adequately and meaningfully. This ability would seem to be important in mathematics teaching, in addition to other fields of endeavor.

7. Consider a similar spatial visualization study with mathematics students at the elementary and/or secondary school levels. The teachers could also be included in such a study, where an attempt might be made to relate the students' spatial visualization development to the teachers' success in teaching, their spatial visualization abilities, and other criteria which might seem of importance.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Berelson, Bernard and Gary A. Steiner. Human behavior-An inventory of scientific findings. New York, Harcourt, Brace, and World, 1964. 712 p.
- Blade, Mary F. and Walter S. Watson. Increase in spatial visualization test scores during engineering study. Psychological Monographs 69(12):1-13. 1955.
- 3. Boehm, George A. The new world of math. New York, The Dial Press, 1959. 128 p.
- 4. Bowman, James E. A study of the basic mathematical skills needed to teach industrial arts in the public schools. Dissertation Abstracts XIX:3226-3227. 1959.
- Breslich, Ernst R. Problems in teaching secondary-school mathematics. Chicago, University of Chicago Press, 1931. 348 p.
- 6. \_\_\_\_\_. The teaching of mathematics in the secondary schools. Vol. 1: Technique. Chicago, University of Chicago Press, 1930. 239 p.
- Brown, Kenneth E. Analysis of research in the teaching of mathematics, 1955 and 1956. Washington, D. C., 1958.
  73 p. (U.S. Office of Health, Education, and Welfare, Bulletin Number 4)
- 8. Bruner, Jerome S. The process of education. New York, Random House, 1963. 97 p.
- Butler, Charles H. and F. Lynwood Wren. The teaching of secondary mathematics. 3d ed. New York, McGraw-Hill, 1960. 624 p.
- 10. Cambridge Conference on School Mathematics. Goals for school mathematics. Boston, Houghton Mifflin, 1963. 102 p.
- College Entrance Examination Board. Report of the commission on school mathematics: Appendices. New York, College Entrance Examination Board, 1959. 231 p.

- College Entrance Examination Board. Report of the commission on mathematics: Program for college preparatory mathematics. New York, College Entrance Examination Board, 1959. 63 p.
- Committee on the Undergraduate Program in Mathematics. Recommendations for the training of teachers of mathematics. Berkeley, Mathematical Association of America, January 1961. 15 p.
- Committees of the Twenty-nine College Cooperative Plan. The academic preparation of secondary school teachers. Cambridge, Harvard University Press, December 1962. 24 p.
- Corle, Clyde G. Teaching mathematics in the elementary school. New York, Ronald Press, 1964. 385 p.
- Davis, David R. The teaching of mathematics. Cambridge, Addison-Wesley, 1951. 415 p.
- Dyer, Henry S., Robert Kalin, and Frederic M. Lord. Problems in mathematical education. Princeton, Educational Testing Service, 1956. 50 p.
- Educational Testing Service. Manual for interpreting scoresmathematics-sequential tests of educational progress. Princeton, 1957. 31 p.
- 19. Fehr, Howard F. What research says to the teacher: Teaching high school mathematics. Washington, D. C., National Education Association, 1955. 33 p.
- 20. Flavell, John H. The developmental psychology of Jean Piaget. Princeton, D. Van Nostrand, 1963. 472 p.
- Gage, N. L. (ed.). Handbook of research on teaching. Chicago, Rand McNally, 1963. 1218 p.
- 22. Gibney, Esther F. Aptitude tests in relation to the teaching of plane geometry. The Mathematics Teacher 42:181-186. 1949.
- Good, Carter V. Dictionary of education. New York, McGraw-Hill, 1959. 676 p.
- 24. Guilford, Joy Paul. Fundamental statistics in psychology and education. New York, McGraw-Hill, 1950. 565 p.

- 25. Gulliksen, Harold. Theory of mental tests. New York, Wiley, 1950. 486 p.
- 26. Hartley, Miles C. Models in solid geometry. The Mathematics Teacher 35:5-7. 1942.
- 27. Hickey, May. The efficiency of certain shapes in nature and technology. The Mathematics Teacher 32:129-133. 1939.
- Holcomb, John Dewitt. Solid geometry in the 10th grade. In: Analysis of research in the teaching of mathematics, 1955 and 1956. Washington D. C., U. S. Office of Health, Education, and Welfare, 1958. p. 47.
- Illinois. University. Committee on School Mathematics. A preview of the UICSM programed text in solid geometry. Urbana, April 17, 1963. 7 p. (Newsletter no. 11)
- Johler, Walter W. Seeing solid. Journal of Education 125: 253-254. November 1942.
- 31. Kilpatrick, Jeremy. Cognitive theory and the SMSG program. Journal of Research in Science Teaching 2:247-251. 1964.
- 32. Kinney, Lucien B. and C. Richard Purdy. Teaching mathematics in the secondary school. New York, Rinehart, 1960. 381 p.
- 33. Langer, Jonas. Implications of Piaget's talks for curriculum. Journal of Research in Science Teaching 2:208-213. 1964.
- Lawshe, C. H. Jr. Principles of personnel testing. New York, McGraw-Hill, 1948. 227 p.
- Mendocino, Lorenzo. Mechanical reasoning and space perception: Native capacity or experience. Personnel and Guidance Journal 36:335-338. 1958.
- Meserve, Bruce E. Modern geometry for teachers. School Science and Mathematics 58:437-441. 1958.
- 37. Meserve, Bruce E. and Max A. Sobel. Mathematics for secondary school teachers. New Jersey, Prentice-Hall, 1962. 367 p.
- Miller, Daniel R. Manual of survey of object visualization. Los Angeles, California Test Bureau, 1955. 12 p.

- 39. Mink, Oscar G. Experience and cognitive structure. Journal of Research in Science Teaching 2:196-203. 1964.
- 40. Minnick, J. H. Teaching mathematics in the secondary schools. New York, Prentice-Hall, 1939. 336 p.
- 41. Mires, Katherine C. General mathematics for college freshmen. The Mathematics Teacher 50:513-516.
- 42. National Association of State Directors of Teacher Education and Certification and the American Association for the Advancement of Science. Guidelines for preparation programs of teachers of secondary school science and mathematics. Washington D. C., NASDTEC-AAAS, 1961. 32 p.
- 43. National Committee on Mathematical Requirements. The reorganization of mathematics in secondary education. Boston, Houghton Mifflin, 1927. 181 p.
- 44. National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. 24th yearbook: The growth of mathematical ideas, grades K-12. Washington D. C., 1959. 507 p.
- 45. \_\_\_\_\_. 21st yearbook: The learning of mathematics-its theory and practice. New York, Columbia Teachers College, 1953. 355 p.
- I5th yearbook: The place of mathematics in secondary education. New York, Columbia Teachers College, 1940. 253 p.
- 47. \_\_\_\_\_. The revolution in school mathematics. Washington D. C., 1961. 90 p.
- North, R. D. The STEP mathematics test reviewed from independent school results. In: 1962 SCAT-STEP supplement. Princeton, Educational Testing Service, 1962. p. 32.
- 49. Paterson, Donald G., <u>et al</u>. Minnesota mechanical ability tests. Minneapolis, University of Minnesota Press, 1930. 586 p.
- 50. Peel, E. A. Learning and thinking in the school situation. Journal of Research in Science Teaching 2:227-229. 1964.
- 51. Piaget, Jean, Barbel Inhelder, and Alina Szeminska. The child's conception of geometry. New York, Basic Books, Inc., 1960. 411 p.

- 52. Ripple, Richard E. American cognitive studies: A review. Journal of Research in Science Teaching 2:187-195. 1964.
- 53. Roe, Anne. A psychologist examines 64 eminent scientists. Scientific American 187:21-25. November 1952.
- 54. Schmidt, Louis G. and J. W. M. Rothney. Relationship of primary abilities scores and occupational choices. Journal of Educational Research 47:637-640. 1954.
- 55. School Mathematics Study Group. Studies in mathematics, volume IX: A brief course in mathematics for elementary school teachers. Stanford, California, 1963. 469 p.
- 56. \_\_\_\_\_. Newsletter number 4. New Haven, Connecticut, Yale University, March 1960. 22 p.
- 57. Sharo, Ernest Adam. Physics, mathematics, and visual spatial relations: An investigation of aptitude in the formation of mental concepts of visual spatial relations as a partial index of academic achievement in high school physics and mathematics. Ph. D. thesis. New York, New York University, 1962. 49 numb. leaves. (Microfilm).
- 58. Shaw, Duane C. A study of the relationship between Thurstone primary mental abilities and high school achievement. Journal of Educational Psychology 40:239-250. 1949.
- Smith, Rolland R. Three major difficulties in the learning of demonstrative geometry. The Mathematics Teacher 33:99-134. 1940.
- 60. Stephens, J. M. Educational psychology. New York, Holt, Rinehart, and Winston, 1960. 717 p.
- 61. Stone, Marshall H. Some crucial problems of mathematical instruction in the United States. School Review 65:64-77. 1957.
- 62. Super, Donald E. Appraising vocational fitness. New York, Harper Brothers, 1949. 727 p.
- 63. Thorndike, Edward L., <u>et al</u>. The measurement of intelligence. New York, Teachers College, Columbia University, 1925. 616 p.

- 64. Thurstone, L. L. Human individuality: Primary mental abilities. Science 108:585. 1948.
- 65. \_\_\_\_\_. Primary abilities. Occupations 27:527-529. 1949.
- 66. Thurstone, Thelma Gwinn. The tests of primary mental abilities. Personnel and Guidance Journal 35:569-578. 1957.
- 67. Turner, Marguerite E. Construction, validation, and use of a test for measuring the concept of shape in grades one to nine. Dissertation Abstracts XXII:2701-2702. 1961.
- 68. Van Engen, Henry. Teacher education in mathematics. School Science and Mathematics 58:27-29. 1958.
- 69. Vernon, M. D. A further study of visual perception. Cambridge, England, Broadwater Press Limited, 1954. 289 p.
- Wert, James E., Charles O. Neidt, and J. Stanley Ahmann. Statistical methods in educational and psychological research. New York, Appleton-Century-Crofts, 1954. 435 p.
- Wilt, May L. Teaching plane and solid geometry simultaneously. Fifth Yearbook of the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. Washington D. C., 1930. 206 p.
- 72. Wohlwill, Joachim F. Cognitive development and the learning of elementary concepts. Journal of Research in Science Teaching 2:222-226. 1964.
- Young, John Wesley. Lectures on fundamental concepts of algebra and geometry. New York, Macmillan Company, 1911. 247 p.

APPENDIX
## APPENDIX PERSONAL DATA QUESTIONNAIRE

 This part for examiner's use only.
 WPCV

 WPCM
 WPCVM

 STEPM
 DATSR

 DATSR
 GPA

 TCRED
 TCRED

(Do not write above this line)

Personal Data Sheet

Instructions: The purpose of the information requested below is to obtain personal data about the individuals involved in this study. Please complete all the items which are appropriate for you.

1.	NAME			
	Last	First	Middle	Initial
2.	AGE:	3. SEX (Check o	ne): Male	Female
4.	YEAR OF HIGH SCH	OOL GRADUATION	:	
5.	CLASS (Check one):	Freshma Sophomo Junior Senior Graduate Other (sp	re e pecify)	
6.	TEACHING MAJOR (Check one):	(OR FIRST MINOR) Mathema English Industria Biology General Social Sc Other (sp	atics al Arts, Find Science cience ary pecify)	e Arts

7. TEACHING MINOR (Check appropriate subjects):

١

	OII.			Sit (Oneek appropriate babjeetb).			
	Ar	t		Music			
Biology Botany Chemistry English Foreign Lang			r	Physical Education/Health			
				Physical Science			
			stry	Physics			
			1	Professional Subjects			
			n Lar	guages Science Education			
	Ge	nera	1 <b>S</b> ci	ence Social Sciences			
Home Economic			Econo	omics Zoology			
Industrial Arts			ial A	ArtsOther (specify)			
	_Ma	then	natic	S			
TE2 but	ACHING EXPERIENCE: (Complete <u>either</u> Part A <u>or</u> Part B, not both):						
Α.	A. Prospective Teachers Only:						
	Student Teaching Completed:YesNo						
в.	. Experienced Teachers Only:						
		Yea	rs of	Teaching Experience:			
LEVEL OF LATEST TEACHING EXPERIENCE, OR TEACHINGPREPARATION (Check one):							
HIC nun	H Sender	SCHOOL MATHEMATICS BACKGROUND (Encircle the series of semesters completed where applicable):					
1	2	3	4	General Mathematics			
1	2	3	4	Algebra I			
1	2	3	4	Geometry (including Solid Geometry)			
1	2	3	4	Trigonometry			
1	2	3	4	4th year mathematics (College Algebra,			
				Analytic Geometry, Math Analysis, Calculus, Statistics, Matrix Algebra, et cetera.)			
COLLEGE MATHEMATICS BACKGROUND (quarter hours):							
DE	GRE	E ST	ATU	S (Check highest degree attained):			
				None			
				BA, BS			
				MA, MS, MEd			
	TEA but A. B. LEV PRI 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Ar Bid Bo Ch En Fo Ge Ho Ind Ma TEACH but not l A. Pro B. Exp LEVEL PREPAL (G HIGH So number 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2	Art Biology Botany Chemis English Foreign Genera Home H Industr Mathem TEACHING but not both) A. Prospec Stud B. Experice Yea: LEVEL OF PREPARATI Elem (Grade HIGH SCHOO number of s 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3	Art Biology Botany Chemistry English Foreign Lan General Sci Home Econd Industrial A Mathematic TEACHING EXP but not both): A. Prospective Student T B. Experienced Years of LEVEL OF LATT PREPARATION Elementa (Grades 1- HIGH SCHOOL M number of semes 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4			

- \_\_\_\_\_PhD, DEd
- Other (specify)